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Mission Statement
Our mission is to be a catalyst for 
the development of a dynamic 
small to medium sized business 
sector through the provision of non-
traditional fi nancing instruments 
and professional expertise to 
businesses in the productive 
sectors, with strong profi t making 
and growth potential.

Guiding Philosophy
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited is 
committed to fostering the growth 
of young, dynamic Barbadian fi rms 
with superior entrepreneurial talent.

Corporate Profi le
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From Top Left:  Terrence Thornhill (Chairman),
Richard Matthews (Deputy Chairman),
Timothy Simmons, Horace Cobham, 
Dr. Patricia Downes-Grant, John Cole, 
Peter Whitehall and Michael Mayers.

Principal Activities
On January 2, 1998 Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) commenced operations as a limited liability company to provide 
venture capital, advisory services and technical assistance to its client companies in the small and medium sized enterprise 
(SME) sector. 

Within a few years of its inception, EGFL’s core activities evolved to include fund management services to a number of dedicated, 
sector-speci� c Funds established by the Government of Barbados to provide � nancing to assist with the retooling of the 
productive sectors of the economy. 

These developments have enabled EGFL to cater to a wider cross-section of businesses in ful� lling its mandate of providing 
developmental � nance to the critical SME sector. 

Board of Directors 
The business of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) is conducted under the oversight of the Board of Directors. As of 
December 31, 2012 EGFL’s Board of Directors was composed of the 8 members shown below. 
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Chairman’s Statement
Introduction
Despite an increasingly diffi cult economic 
environment EGFL generated a surplus of $0.71 
million in 2012, making this the ninth successive 
year of profi tability.  This result was less than half 
the $1.56 million achieved in 2011 however, it was 
more consistent with normalised expectations 
since it didn’t include the recovery of signifi cant 
non-accrued income, which featured prominently 
in the 2011 results.

EGFL has achieved this level of performance by 
focusing greater attention on the management 
of the risks associated with new credits and by 
implementing strategies to mitigate the impact 
of diffi culties being experienced by existing 
clients.  Consequently, provisions have not been 
excessive and EGFL has been able to maintain 
the momentum generated during previous years.  

As noted in previous years, the assistance 
we have provided to our clients includes debt 
restructuring, which they have utilised to 
conserve cash and maintain their operations 
during these challenging times.  We have also 
supported clients in the exploration of new 
business models and options which have the 
potential to improve the operational and fi nancial 
leverage associated with their businesses 
and thus transform them into potentially more 
effi cient entities.  

In concert with the aforementioned initiatives, 
we anticipate that our ability to positively impact 
the performance of businesses will be enhanced 
further in the near term by a new fi nancing 
programme. To this end, the launch of the Trade 
Receivables Liquidity Facility will allow EGFL to 
support our client base and other entrepreneurs 
by factoring receivables generated by the 
provision of goods and services to government 
departments and statutory corporations.  By 
shortening the businesses’ cash cycles through 
speedier settlement of their outstanding bills, 
EGFL will enhance their liquidity, thereby 
facilitating more effective operations.  Thus 
far, two clients have benefi tted under this 
programme.

Economic Review 2012
The lethargic performance which has 
characterised the Barbados economy in the 
recent past, including growth of less than 1% 
in each of the two previous years, continued 
in 2012 when no real growth was registered.  
Several key sectors contributed to this weak 
result.  These included tourism, other traded 
services and manufacturing all of which 
registered declines.

After experiencing a minor decrease of 0.2% 
in real growth during 2011, the tourism sector 
contracted by an estimated 3.5% in 2012.  
Barbados saw reductions in visitors from our 
two main source markets, the UK and US, 
of 9.0% and 8.8% respectively, while visitors 
from Trinidad increased marginally by 1.5% 
and those from other Caribbean destinations 
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fell by 8.1%.  The closure of Almond Resorts, 
one of the major players in the all-inclusive 
market, the reduction of airlift from the US and 
UK and the more than 8% increase in the Air 
Passenger Duty for UK visitors, were cited as 
the main contributors to the noted decrease in 
the North Atlantic markets.  With respect to the 
Caribbean, Redjet’s closure, which removed 
the option for cheaper inter-regional travel, was 
identifi ed as the main contributor to the decline 
of the Caribbean market.  

The short-stay sector also performed well below 
par as cruise passenger arrivals decreased by 
15%, compared to the 1% reduction noted 
in 2011.  Many of the established cruise lines 
moved several ships from the Caribbean to other 
areas, such as the Mediterranean, so there was 
less capacity available within the region.

Manufacturing value added decreased by 4.9% 
in 2012, which was marginally better than the 
5.3% reduction observed in 2011.  Most of 
the subsectors struggled, with the exception 
of food processing, garments and wooden 
furniture.  With respect to the agricultural sector, 
the overall decline of 2% registered in 2012 
overshadowed increases in sugar production 
of 4.4% and fresh milk output, of 5%.  An 
estimated reduction in activity of 3% was also 
noted for the construction sector.

Compared to 2011, when international reserves 
stood at approximately $1.4 billion, a slight 
increase to $1.5 billion was registered in 2012.  
This increase was mainly attributed to infl ows 
via the capital account, particularly from the 
sale of shares in the former Barbados National 
Bank, and allowed the import cover to remain at 
approximately 18 weeks. 

As a consequence of the tepid economic 
performance, unemployment levels continued 
to be high, averaging 11.7% during the fi rst nine 
months of 2012.  However, the rate of infl ation 
abated somewhat, moving from 9.5% at the 
end of 2011 to 6.5% at September 2012 as a 
result of more modest increases in international 
food prices.  

While many economic indicators continued 
trending in the wrong direction, including the 
ratio of non-performing loans which increased 
to 12.7% of total loans at 2012, compared to 
11.1% at the end of 2011, the banking sector 
remained well capitalised, highly profi table and 
very liquid.  Loan growth however was weak 
increasing by less than 1.5% in 2012. 

Performance Review
During the year under review, EGFL reported 
a marked decrease in the loan and equity 
investments for its own account and the Funds 
under management.  Compared to 2011 when 
approvals totalled $9.18 million, just $4.73 
million was endorsed in 2012.  Despite this 
sharp fall in approvals, disbursements, including 
grants, registered a steep increase moving 
from $6.95 million in 2011 to $13.76 million 
in 2012.  Approvals and disbursements were 
concentrated in the Agricultural Development 
Fund (ADF) and the Tourism Loan Fund (TLF). 

The ADF registered another signifi cant loss in 
2012 of $2.82 million. This was mainly attributable 
to the sustained poor performance of a major 
loan in the portfolio and a decision was made 
to provide for the balance outstanding at year 
end.  The Commercial Division, that segment 
of the portfolio dealing with projects seen as 
more commercially viable, had approvals and 
disbursements of $0.65 million and $3.35 million 
respectively in 2012 compared to $4.6 million 
and $0.60 million respectively in 2011.   Those 
projects and initiatives producing social returns 
or benefi ts considered tentative are found within 
the Developmental Division.  This segment 
registered disbursements of $6.1 million in 
2012, in contrast to $2.58 million in 2011. The 
ADF also accessed the Industrial Credit Fund 
to provide fi nancing to a client before receiving 
capital injections totalling $13.1 million in the 
latter part of 2012. 

Since the offi cial launch in November 2011, 
the Energy Smart Fund (ESF) witnessed 
an encouraging response from Barbadian 
businesses and households alike, especially 
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with regards to the technical assistance and loan 
fi nancing components of the Fund. During 2012, 
nine applications were received from interested 
parties desirous of becoming authorised Smart 
Fund Partners, fi ve of which were subsequently 
endorsed by the Evaluation Committee. Similarly, 
ten requests were forwarded for fi nancing 
under the Technical Assistance Facility and this 
resulted in the approval of nine grants totalling 
$0.08 million.

Additionally, under the Pilot Consumer Finance 
Facility of the ESF, one application was submitted 
for consideration, and subsequently approved. 
However, the overall level of enthusiasm 
surrounding the Fund was noticeably 
constrained as EGFL awaits the completion and 
ratifi cation of the legal framework necessary to 
facilitate fi nancing activities under the Fund’s 
managed components. Notwithstanding this, 
promising steps have been taken to steadfastly 
rectify this situation, and it is envisioned that 
the ensuing fi scal period will realise a signifi cant 
level of investing activity by the Fund.  

In spite of the decision previously made by 
Government to suspend the operations of the 
Export Promotion and Marketing Fund, efforts 
were undertaken during 2012 to sanction various 
proposals which were identifi ed as having the 
potential to generate foreign exchange earnings.  
To this end approvals and disbursements were 
$0.60 million and $0.52 million respectively 
during 2012.  

When compared to the preceding year, the 
performance of the Industrial Investment and 
Employment Fund (IIEF) declined in 2012.  In 
2011, the Fund realized net income of $0.13 
million, due mainly to the recovery of a loan 
for which a provision was previously made.  
However in 2012, a net loss of $0.13 million was 
incurred.  While there were no approvals during 
2012, $0.53 million was disbursed during the 
year as a result of prior commitments. 

The facility continues to provide vital fi nancial 
support to manufacturers with business models 
and ideas which have the potential for strong, 
sustained growth.  Increased competition 

from regional and international manufacturers, 
who benefi t from relatively low input costs, 
has negatively impacted the viability of clients 
operating in the local manufacturing sector.  
Therefore, the continued availability of low cost 
fi nancing remains of paramount importance to 
local manufacturers. 

The Innovation Fund (IF) has approved 20 
projects valued at BDS$3.67 million since 
its inception in December 2003.  This Fund 
was created to provide fi nance and technical 
assistance to entrepreneurs with innovative 
business ideas who are in need of funds to 
commercialise their innovative business ideas.  
During the period under review, the Fund 
generated a loss of $0.09 million because of 
the speculative nature of the projects; however 
EGFL considers that the investment in these 
projects has the potential to contribute to 
the development of non-traditional sectors 
of the economy.  The sponsorship of the 
Prime Minister’s 2012 Award for Innovation 
also assisted the Fund in achieving its 
aforementioned objectives. 

The SHIF recorded a loss of $1.10 million 
during 2012 as the prevailing diffi cult economic 
conditions continued to adversely affect the 
members of the Intimate Hotels of Barbados.   
As a result, the period was marked by an 
increasing number of requests for extensions of 
the fi ve year moratoria on loan payments and a 
lack of consistent loan payments by clients.  An 
amount of $5.60 million has been received to 
date for Phase II of the Small Hotels Refurbishing 
Scheme and it is expected that applicants will 
use the opportunity to reposition their properties 
in anticipation of an improvement in the tourism 
market.

The cautious approach to the acquisition of 
funding which characterised the hospitality 
industry in recent years continued in 2012.  
Consequently, only one application was 
submitted to the TLF during the year under 
review.   However, while the Fund broke even 
in 2011, due mainly to a provision made against 
its portfolio, a net profi t of $0.37 million was 
registered in 2012.  In spite of the challenges 
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the tourism sector continued to encounter 
over the review period, the performance of 
some clients of this Fund outstripped that of 
the industry as a whole.  Occupancy levels for 
some of the Fund’s clients were high enough to 
sustain their businesses while, for the most part, 
employment levels were maintained.

Summary and Financial Outlook for 
2013
Our client class within the SME sector has 
endured another diffi cult year of operations.  
Many have demonstrated signifi cant tenacity in 
the face of adversity as they battle to sustain 
themselves.   The survival strategies and tactics 
they have employed over the last few years must 
be maintained since the economic forecast for 
2013 is similarly bleak.  These expectations are 
driven by the presence of signifi cant structural 
problems in the local economy and the 
heightened prospects for tepid global growth 
during the upcoming year.  However, EGFL will 
implement some initiatives during the upcoming 
year to assist the SME sector. 

Last year we indicated that the ESF would 
have been available during 2012 as a source 
of low cost fi nancing for businesses to 
implement energy effi cient and renewable 
energy solutions, thus reducing their operational 
expenses. This did not materialise because of 
the aforementioned reasons; however, EGFL 
fully expects that businesses will be able to avail 
themselves of these opportunities during 2013 
as many of the challenges encountered in 2012 
have been resolved. As a consequence we 
anticipate that interest in this important initiative 
will be re-ignited, particularly when planned 
promotional activities are launched.  

Additionally, the previously mentioned TRLF will 
prove crucial in helping some businesses to 
better manage their crucial cash resources.   The 
importance of this facility cannot be overstated 
since cash is the lifeblood of any business as it 
is needed for all operational activities.  

EGFL recognises that its ultimate viability is 
inextricably linked to that of its clients and this 

realisation informs the actions and efforts we 
have undertaken to ensure their survival at this 
time.  Of course this is a mutually benefi cial 
relationship and EGFL can only continue to 
provide the essential fi nancing and advice to the 
SME sector if it remains a healthy organisation.  
Consequently, as noted previously, EGFL has 
been examining and calibrating its processes 
to ensure its sustainability in the future.  We 
believe our efforts and those of our clients in this 
symbiotic relationship will contribute greatly to 
the future success of the SME sector.  

Changes in the Board of Directors
There were some changes in the board of 
directors during the year and we take this 
opportunity to acknowledge Messrs. Edward 
Griffi th and Almroth Williams, who resigned as 
directors of EGFL, for their sterling contributions 
to the board during their tenure.

We also take this opportunity to extend a warm 
welcome to the two new directors of the board 
Messrs. Michael Mayers and Timothy Simmons, 
who were appointed during the year.

Acknowledgements
Once again, I want to express my appreciation 
to the board for its wise and thoughtful 
counsel during the last year and applaud 
the management and staff of EGFL for their 
continued diligence and sterling achievements 
under diffi cult circumstances.

Terrence A. Thornhill
Chairman



“The sun will still shine when the oil runs out” 
– Professor Oliver Headley  (1942-2002)



Enterprise 
Growth Fund 

Limited
Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012

“Our commitment to 
continually move our 

company and our 
clients forward”

During the year EGFL implemented some 
important changes to demonstrate its 
commitment to developing an energy efficient 
building.  As part of this commitment, we have 
retrofitted our building with LED lights; the next 
step will be to integrate the use of other energy 
efficient and renewable energy solutions to 
power the builidng with an adequate supply of 
energy to help reduce operational expenses. 

EGFL is committed to working with its clients 
to drive growth during these difficult economic 
challenges.  We will continue to remain focused 
on our mandate to provide financing, technical 
assistance and advisory services to our clients.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes 2012
Revenue

2011

Management fees 15 $ 2,594,927 2,466,124
Evaluation and commitment fees 116,000 46,190
Investment income 580,459 1,053,863
Interest on short term deposits 187,007 214,899
Other 7,229 9,583

3,485,622 3,790,659

Expenses
Operating 2,296,422 2,160,839
Depreciation 8 245,755 69,580
Gain on disposal of assets (19,384) -
Loan recoveries 5 (2,040) (63,747)
Investment losses 257,117 -
Amortisation 8 - 67,671

2,777,870 2,234,343

Net income and comprehensive income $ 707,752 1,556,316

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

5

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Class A Class B Accumulated
Notes Shares Shares Total Surplus Total

Balances, December 31, 2010 $ 3,500,000 13,872,109 17,372,109 4,625,540 21,997,649

Dividends paid 13 - - - (105,000) (105,000)

Net income and
comprehensive income - - - 1,556,316 1,556,316

Balances, December 31, 2011 3,500,000 13,872,109 17,372,109 6,076,856 23,448,965

Dividends paid 13 - - - (105,000) (105,000)

Net income and
comprehensive income - - - 707,752 707,752

Balances, December 31, 2012 $ 3,500,000 13,872,109 17,372,109 6,679,608 24,051,717

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes 2012
Operating Activities

2011

Income before taxation $ 707,752 1,556,316

Adjustments for:
Interest on short term deposits (187,007) (214,899)
Depreciation 245,755 69,580
Amortisation - 67,671
Gain on disposal of fixed assets (19,385) -
Deferred shareholder grant (55,476) 5,618
Investment losses 257,117 -
Loan loss recoveries 5 (2,040) (63,747)

Operating profit before working capital changes 946,716 1,420,539

Increase in accounts receivable and prepayments (14,191) (170,347)
Decrease (increase) in loans receivable 693,023 (1,986,185)
(Increase) in due from related party (46,494) (101,134)
Increase in accounts payable 7,300 17,522
Increase in pension asset (20,990) (22,675)
Decrease in due to related party - (4,301)

1,565,364 (846,581)
Taxation (37) (1,486)
Interest received on short term deposits 187,431 233,807

Net cash provided by (used in) from operating activities 1,752,758 (614,260)

Investing Activities
(Purchase) sale of investments (75,907) 72,377
Sale of fixed assets 67,872 -
Purchase of fixed assets 8 (1,119,150) (2,421,805)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,127,185) (2,349,428)

Financing Activities
Dividends paid 13 (105,000) (105,000)

Net cash used in financing activities (105,000) (105,000)

Increase (decrease) in cash and short term deposits 520,573 (3,068,688)

Cash and short term deposits – beginning of year 4,119,443 7,188,131

Cash and short term deposits – end of year $ 4,640,016 4,119,443

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in Barbados as a company 
authorised to issue an unlimited number of Class A common shares and an unlimited number of Class B 
common shares without par value.

The address of the Company’s registered office is “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens, Barbarees Hill,
St. Michael. The principal activity of the Company is the provision of venture capital and loan financing 
to small and medium-sized Barbadian businesses. Additionally the Company also provides management 
services to various Funds operating in the manufacturing, agriculture, tourism and innovation sectors 
(see note 15). 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on May 8, 2013.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and contingent 
assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then 
ended.  Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(c) Cash and short term deposits

Cash and short term deposits comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with 
original maturity dates of 90 days or less.

(d) Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value less provisions for estimated irrecoverable 
balances.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011
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2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and contingent 
assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then 
ended.  Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(c) Cash and short term deposits

Cash and short term deposits comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with 
original maturity dates of 90 days or less.

(d) Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value less provisions for estimated irrecoverable 
balances.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, Continued

(e) Revenue recognition

Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.  Loans are placed on 
a non-accrual basis when there is reasonable doubt regarding the collectibility of principal or interest or 
when principal and/or interest payments are 90 days or more in arrears.  Upon classification of a loan to 
a non-accrual basis, any previously accrued but unpaid interest thereon is reversed against the current 
period. Interest is only accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid and total accrued interest does 
not exceed 180 days.  In subsequent periods, interest received on non-accrual loans is recorded as 
income only if management has determined that the loans do not require specific provisions, otherwise 
all amounts are credited to principal.

Management fees
Management fees are recognised as they accrue.

(f) Provision for loan losses

The Company writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it 
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering 
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position 
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be 
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.  

(g) Investments, net

Investments are recorded at cost.  Provision for losses is made at a level considered adequate to absorb 
anticipated losses considering the current economic conditions and other relevant factors.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation and 
amortization are provided on the straight-line basis at rates based on the estimated useful life of each 
asset.  Land is not depreciated.  The annual rates applied are:

Buildings - 2.0%
Office equipment - 12.5%
Vehicles - 20.0%
Furniture and equipment - 20.0%
Computer equipment - 33.3%
Computer software - 100.0%

Amortization is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the leasehold improvements at a rate of 10.0%.  Depreciation methods, useful 
lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, Continued

(i) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

(j) Deferred shareholder grant

Shareholder grants relating specifically to technical assistance for investees are deferred and recognised 
into income as costs are incurred for such technical assistance.

(k) Management fees

Management fees are charged in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between the 
Company and the trustees or sponsors for the funds under management using contractual interest rates.

(l) Interest, investment income and evaluation fees

Interest, investment income and evaluation fees are recognised as income when earned and are based 
on contractual terms and conditions.

(m) Pension – defined benefit scheme

The Company’s net obligation in respect of its defined-benefit pension scheme is calculated by 
estimating the amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of 
any plan assets is deducted from it.  The discount rate used is the yield at the reporting date on long-
term government instruments that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s 
pension obligations.  The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit 
method.

n) Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, Continued

(e) Revenue recognition

Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.  Loans are placed on 
a non-accrual basis when there is reasonable doubt regarding the collectibility of principal or interest or 
when principal and/or interest payments are 90 days or more in arrears.  Upon classification of a loan to 
a non-accrual basis, any previously accrued but unpaid interest thereon is reversed against the current 
period. Interest is only accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid and total accrued interest does 
not exceed 180 days.  In subsequent periods, interest received on non-accrual loans is recorded as 
income only if management has determined that the loans do not require specific provisions, otherwise 
all amounts are credited to principal.

Management fees
Management fees are recognised as they accrue.

(f) Provision for loan losses

The Company writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it 
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering 
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position 
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be 
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.  

(g) Investments, net

Investments are recorded at cost.  Provision for losses is made at a level considered adequate to absorb 
anticipated losses considering the current economic conditions and other relevant factors.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation and 
amortization are provided on the straight-line basis at rates based on the estimated useful life of each 
asset.  Land is not depreciated.  The annual rates applied are:

Buildings - 2.0%
Office equipment - 12.5%
Vehicles - 20.0%
Furniture and equipment - 20.0%
Computer equipment - 33.3%
Computer software - 100.0%

Amortization is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the leasehold improvements at a rate of 10.0%.  Depreciation methods, useful 
lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, Continued

(i) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

(j) Deferred shareholder grant

Shareholder grants relating specifically to technical assistance for investees are deferred and recognised 
into income as costs are incurred for such technical assistance.

(k) Management fees

Management fees are charged in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between the 
Company and the trustees or sponsors for the funds under management using contractual interest rates.

(l) Interest, investment income and evaluation fees

Interest, investment income and evaluation fees are recognised as income when earned and are based 
on contractual terms and conditions.

(m) Pension – defined benefit scheme

The Company’s net obligation in respect of its defined-benefit pension scheme is calculated by 
estimating the amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of 
any plan assets is deducted from it.  The discount rate used is the yield at the reporting date on long-
term government instruments that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s 
pension obligations.  The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit 
method.

n) Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, Continued

(o) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial statements. 
These are as follows: 

• IFRS 12, Disclosure in Interest In other Entities, effective January 1, 2013
• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2011), effective January 1, 2013
• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, effective January 1, 2013
• IFRS 19, Employee Benefits (amended 2011), effective January 1, 2013
• Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments, effective January 1, 2015

(p) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are 
also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.  
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related parties are based 
on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

3. Cash and Short Term Deposits

Cash and short term deposits consist primarily of:

2012 2011

Cash on hand and at bank $ 1,073,994 449,190
Short term deposits 3,566,022 3,670,253

$ 4,640,016 4,119,443

The applicable interest rates for the short term fixed deposits range between 2.5% - 3.75% (2011: 2.5% -
2.8%).
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

4. Accounts Receivable and Prepayments, net 

Accounts receivable and prepayments, net are comprised of:

2012 2011

Accounts receivable, net $ 46,239 45,181
Other receivables 243,607 230,474

$ 289,846 275,655

5. Loans Receivable, net

The maximum loan size allowed is the greater of $1,500,000 and 15% of the total capitalization of the 
Fund. The minimum loan size is limited to $100,000.  Loans shall not be used to purchase land, 
buildings or other real estate except where the buildings are to be used for productive purposes.  All 
loans shall be repaid within twelve (12) years or less.  

When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent 
recoveries are credited to the provision for loan loss in the statement of comprehensive income. The 
Company as the Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive payment when one of its managed 
funds recovers any principal and interest in respect of any loan which may be classified as uncollectible
and/or may have been written off the books of the Fund. Such an incentive payment shall be ten percent 
(10%) on the net amounts recovered.

The grace period (i.e. the period during which only interest payments are due and payable) for loans with 
repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be limited to one year.

For loans with repayment periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the 
grace period is limited to two (2) years. For loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years the 
grace period is limited to not more than three (3) years.

Where a construction and/or installation contract is for less than the stipulated grace period, the grace 
period will be limited to the length of the construction and/or installation contract.

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s).

The maturity structure of loans receivable, net, is: 
2012 2011

Under 1 year $ 2,022,610 2,043,019
1 – 5 years 2,560,742 1,907,984
Over 5 years 5,307,489 6,632,862

Total loans receivable, gross, carried forward $ 9,890,841 10,583,865
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Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, Continued
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also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.  
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related parties are based 
on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

3. Cash and Short Term Deposits
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2012 2011
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$ 4,640,016 4,119,443

The applicable interest rates for the short term fixed deposits range between 2.5% - 3.75% (2011: 2.5% -
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4. Accounts Receivable and Prepayments, net 

Accounts receivable and prepayments, net are comprised of:

2012 2011

Accounts receivable, net $ 46,239 45,181
Other receivables 243,607 230,474

$ 289,846 275,655

5. Loans Receivable, net

The maximum loan size allowed is the greater of $1,500,000 and 15% of the total capitalization of the 
Fund. The minimum loan size is limited to $100,000.  Loans shall not be used to purchase land, 
buildings or other real estate except where the buildings are to be used for productive purposes.  All 
loans shall be repaid within twelve (12) years or less.  

When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent 
recoveries are credited to the provision for loan loss in the statement of comprehensive income. The 
Company as the Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive payment when one of its managed 
funds recovers any principal and interest in respect of any loan which may be classified as uncollectible
and/or may have been written off the books of the Fund. Such an incentive payment shall be ten percent 
(10%) on the net amounts recovered.

The grace period (i.e. the period during which only interest payments are due and payable) for loans with 
repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be limited to one year.

For loans with repayment periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the 
grace period is limited to two (2) years. For loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years the 
grace period is limited to not more than three (3) years.

Where a construction and/or installation contract is for less than the stipulated grace period, the grace 
period will be limited to the length of the construction and/or installation contract.

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s).

The maturity structure of loans receivable, net, is: 
2012 2011

Under 1 year $ 2,022,610 2,043,019
1 – 5 years 2,560,742 1,907,984
Over 5 years 5,307,489 6,632,862

Total loans receivable, gross, carried forward $ 9,890,841 10,583,865
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

5. Loans Receivable, net, Continued

2012 2011

Total loans receivable, gross, brought forward $ 9,890,841 10,583,865

Less loan loss provision:

Balance at January 1 $ (1,467,624) (1,642,523)
Write off of loan - 111,152
Impairment loss reversed 2,040 63,747

Balance at December 31 (1,465,584) (1,467,624)

Total loans receivable, net $ 8,425,257 9,116,241

As at the reporting date, interest not recognised in respect of delinquent loans amounted to $486,249
(2011: $385,198).

Loans receivable carry interest rates of 7.5% to 9.5% per annum at the end of 2012 (2011: 7.5% - 9.5% 
per annum).  However, net loans receivable includes the amount of $210,281 (2011: $331,216) relating 
to staff loans.  These amounts carry interest rates of 5% to 7% per annum (2011: 5% per annum). 

The Company has invested in convertible bonds. These bonds are redeemable and bear interest at 
annual rates ranging from 8% - 10%.  Any unpaid interest can be converted into shares of the borrower 
at $1 per share at the option of the Company. These bonds which are reflected in loans receivable, net 
amount to $1,418,077 (2011: $1,486,325).

During the year, the Company disbursed $240,313 (2011: $501,515) in new bonds and received 
principal repayments of $70,139 (2011: $ Nil).

6. Other Assets

In 2010, the Government of Barbados made a decision to wind down the operations of CRL Limited and 
as a consequence the existing portfolio of the aforementioned company was assigned to the Company 
in return for the equivalent value of one (1) non-voting Class B share. These assets are valued at $100 
and the relevant shares were transferred to the Government of Barbados.

2012 2011

Interest receivable on term deposits $ 26,251 26,674
Assets transferred from CRL 100 100

Total $ 26,351 26,774
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

7. Investments, net

Investments held by the Company are classified as held to maturity investments:

2012 2011

Preferred shares $ 2,713,500 2,713,500
Less: Provision for investment losses (1,470,617) (1,213,500)

Net investments 1,242,883 1,500,000
Commercial deposits 2,966,807 2,890,899

Balances, end of year $ 4,209,690 4,390,899

The Company has invested in preferred shares. These preferred shares are subject to an annual 8% 
cumulative dividend.  Any dividends due and unpaid can be converted into cumulative 8% preferred 
shares at $1 per share at the option of the Company.  There were no unpaid dividends at the end of the 
year (2011: nil).

Included in investments is an amount of $2,966,807 (2011: $2,890,899) representing commercial 
deposits with a maturity period of greater than 90 days.
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ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

5. Loans Receivable, net, Continued

2012 2011

Total loans receivable, gross, brought forward $ 9,890,841 10,583,865

Less loan loss provision:

Balance at January 1 $ (1,467,624) (1,642,523)
Write off of loan - 111,152
Impairment loss reversed 2,040 63,747

Balance at December 31 (1,465,584) (1,467,624)

Total loans receivable, net $ 8,425,257 9,116,241

As at the reporting date, interest not recognised in respect of delinquent loans amounted to $486,249
(2011: $385,198).

Loans receivable carry interest rates of 7.5% to 9.5% per annum at the end of 2012 (2011: 7.5% - 9.5% 
per annum).  However, net loans receivable includes the amount of $210,281 (2011: $331,216) relating 
to staff loans.  These amounts carry interest rates of 5% to 7% per annum (2011: 5% per annum). 

The Company has invested in convertible bonds. These bonds are redeemable and bear interest at 
annual rates ranging from 8% - 10%.  Any unpaid interest can be converted into shares of the borrower 
at $1 per share at the option of the Company. These bonds which are reflected in loans receivable, net 
amount to $1,418,077 (2011: $1,486,325).

During the year, the Company disbursed $240,313 (2011: $501,515) in new bonds and received 
principal repayments of $70,139 (2011: $ Nil).

6. Other Assets

In 2010, the Government of Barbados made a decision to wind down the operations of CRL Limited and 
as a consequence the existing portfolio of the aforementioned company was assigned to the Company 
in return for the equivalent value of one (1) non-voting Class B share. These assets are valued at $100 
and the relevant shares were transferred to the Government of Barbados.

2012 2011

Interest receivable on term deposits $ 26,251 26,674
Assets transferred from CRL 100 100

Total $ 26,351 26,774

13

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

7. Investments, net

Investments held by the Company are classified as held to maturity investments:

2012 2011

Preferred shares $ 2,713,500 2,713,500
Less: Provision for investment losses (1,470,617) (1,213,500)

Net investments 1,242,883 1,500,000
Commercial deposits 2,966,807 2,890,899

Balances, end of year $ 4,209,690 4,390,899

The Company has invested in preferred shares. These preferred shares are subject to an annual 8% 
cumulative dividend.  Any dividends due and unpaid can be converted into cumulative 8% preferred 
shares at $1 per share at the option of the Company.  There were no unpaid dividends at the end of the 
year (2011: nil).

Included in investments is an amount of $2,966,807 (2011: $2,890,899) representing commercial 
deposits with a maturity period of greater than 90 days.



14

E
N

TE
R

P
R

IS
E

 G
R

O
W

TH
 FU

N
D

 LIM
ITE

D
N

otes to Financial Statem
ents

D
ecem

ber 31, 2012
(Am

ounts in Barbados D
ollars)

8.
P

roperty, P
lant and E

quipm
ent

Land &
C

onstruction
C

om
puter

O
ffice

C
om

puter
in P

rogress
B

uildings
V

ehicles
Furniture

E
quipm

ent
E

quipm
ent

S
oftw

are
Total

C
ost

B
alance at D

ecem
ber 31, 2010

$
2,318,016                           -

289,558
221,208

269,783
43,676

300,909
3,443,150

A
dditions

2,066,258                           -                           -
350,633

1,755
3,159

-    
2,421,805

B
alance at D

ecem
ber 31, 2011

4,384,274
               -

289,558
571,841

271,538
46,835

300,909
5,864,955

R
eclassification

(2,663,294)
2,663,294     

-
(19,729)

-     
19,729

-
         -       

A
dditions

     -                               661,637                301,817                   95,196                       9,633    
50,867                    -                   1,119,150

D
isposals

            -
-

(143,329)                 (86,319)                (166,382)
       (40,160)

-
       (436,190)

B
alance at D

ecem
ber 31, 2012

$
1,720,980

      3,324,931
      448,046

      560,989
       114,789

         77,271
       300,909

      6,547,915

A
ccum

ulated D
epreciation

B
alance at D

ecem
ber 31, 2010

$
-

-    
147,441

202,779
243,132

23,403               300,909
917,664

D
epreciation

-
-    

45,634
6,442

12,264
5,240

-     
69,580

B
alance at D

ecem
ber 31, 2011

-
-    

193,075
209,221

255,396
28,643

300,909
987,244

R
eclassification

-     
            -

-
(19,729)

-     
19,729

-
         -       

D
epreciation

-
             66,499

          68,696
         94,890

       12,470
           3,200

           -
245,755

D
isposals

-
-    

(109,886)
(86,319)

(166,382)
(25,117)

-
(387,704)

B
alance at D

ecem
ber 31, 2012

$
-

66,499
151,885

198,063
101,484

26,455
300,909

        845,295

N
et B

ook V
alue

A
t D

ecem
ber 31, 2012

$
1,720,980

        3,258,432
296,161

362,926
13,305

50,816
-

5,702,620

A
t D

ecem
ber 31, 2011

$
4,384,274

-    
96,484

362,620
16,142

18,192
-

4,877,712

15

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

8. Property, Plant and Equipment, Continued

During the 2008 financial year, the Board of Directors approved the purchase of property at “Westgate”,
Monteith Gardens, Barbarees Hill, St. Michael for the sole purpose of acquiring new office 
accommodation. The project was completed during January 2012. Cash outlays incurred during the 
construction have been capitalised as follows:

2012 2011

Land $ 1,720,980 1,720,980

Buildings 3,324,931 -

Construction in progress - 2,663,294

Total cost – December 31 $ 5,045,911 4,384,274

9. Taxation

The Minister of Finance has approved a waiver of income tax and a refund of withholding tax paid for the 
fiscal years 2000 to 2005, and as such all liabilities for income tax for the aforementioned period were 
reversed.  

During 2008, the Income Tax Cap. 78 was amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by Government 
and used for the purpose of promoting the development of sectors of the economy.  As a result no 
corporation tax has been calculated for the current year.

10. Deferred Shareholder Grant

2012 2011

Balance – January 1 $ 333,777 328,159

Disbursements – Website Design (61,100) -
Amounts received during the year:
Interest earned on funds 5,624 5,618

Balance – December 31 $ 278,301 333,777

The Company receives grants from the Government of Barbados to contribute to the financial expertise 
of the borrowers. The Company assesses requests from its borrowers on an individual basis to 
determine the allocation of the funds received.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment, Continued

During the 2008 financial year, the Board of Directors approved the purchase of property at “Westgate”,
Monteith Gardens, Barbarees Hill, St. Michael for the sole purpose of acquiring new office 
accommodation. The project was completed during January 2012. Cash outlays incurred during the 
construction have been capitalised as follows:

2012 2011

Land $ 1,720,980 1,720,980

Buildings 3,324,931 -

Construction in progress - 2,663,294

Total cost – December 31 $ 5,045,911 4,384,274

9. Taxation

The Minister of Finance has approved a waiver of income tax and a refund of withholding tax paid for the 
fiscal years 2000 to 2005, and as such all liabilities for income tax for the aforementioned period were 
reversed.  

During 2008, the Income Tax Cap. 78 was amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by Government 
and used for the purpose of promoting the development of sectors of the economy.  As a result no 
corporation tax has been calculated for the current year.

10. Deferred Shareholder Grant

2012 2011

Balance – January 1 $ 333,777 328,159

Disbursements – Website Design (61,100) -
Amounts received during the year:
Interest earned on funds 5,624 5,618

Balance – December 31 $ 278,301 333,777

The Company receives grants from the Government of Barbados to contribute to the financial expertise 
of the borrowers. The Company assesses requests from its borrowers on an individual basis to 
determine the allocation of the funds received.
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11. Due from Related Parties

2012 2011

Agricultural Development Fund $ 217,977 182,460
Export Promotion & Marketing Fund 3,176 -
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 103,010 86,016
Innovation Fund 26,577 26,454
Small Hotels Investment Fund 283,982 286,469
Tourism Loan Fund 226,289 233,118

$ 861,011 814,517

Amounts due from related parties consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the 
financial year in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between the Company and the 
Trustees or Sponsors of the Funds under management using contractual rates (see note 15).

Related party transactions
The related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those prevailing in an arm’s length 
transaction only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and have
no fixed terms of repayment.
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12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Company invested in a defined benefit pension plan during the year ended December 31, 2005. The 
assets of the Plan are administered on behalf of the trustees by Sagicor Life Incorporated.  The amounts 
recognized in the statement of financial position and the statement of comprehensive income are as 
follows:

2012
Statement of Financial Position

2011

Present value of obligation $ 1,060,330 953,572
Fair value of plan assets (1,415,336) (1,216,314)

(335,006) (262,742)
Unrecognised actuarial gains 154,943 83,669

Amount recognized in the statement of financial position $ (200,063) (179,073)

Expense recognized in statement of comprehensive income
Current service cost $ 61,282 61,163
Interest cost 78,212 70,570
Expected return on plan assets (76,250) (74,183)

Expense recognized in statement of comprehensive income $ 63,244 57,550

Actual return on plan assets $ 89,999 17,257

2012
Movement in net asset recognized in the statement of 
financial position

2011

Net asset at the start of the year $ (179,073) (156,398)
Amount recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 63,244 57,550
Contributions (84,234) (80,225)

Net asset at the end of the year $ (200,063) (179,073)
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Agricultural Development Fund $ 217,977 182,460
Export Promotion & Marketing Fund 3,176 -
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 103,010 86,016
Innovation Fund 26,577 26,454
Small Hotels Investment Fund 283,982 286,469
Tourism Loan Fund 226,289 233,118

$ 861,011 814,517

Amounts due from related parties consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the 
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12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan
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12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued

2012 2011

Movement in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start of year $ 1,216,314 1,083,487
Expected return on plan assets 76,250 74,183
Contributions paid – total 117,892 113,817
Actuarial loss on plan assets 13,749 (56,926)
Benefits paid (8,869) 1,753

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 1,415,336 1,216,314

Plan assets are equally distributed between equity investments and government bonds.

Principal actuarial assumptions
Discount rate at end of year 7.50% 7.00%
Expected return on plan assets at end of the year 6.50% 6.00%
Future salary increases 6.00% 6.00%
Future changes in National Insurance Scheme ceiling 3.50% 3.50%

Historical information

2012 2011 2010 20082009

Experience adjustments arising on plan 
liabilities $ 57,525 60,051 163,679 (23,419) 49,087
Experience adjustments arising on plan         
assets $ 13,749 (56,926) (32,435) (14,326) (25,158)
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13. Stated Capital
2012 2011

Class A Shares – 35,000 shares (2010: 35,000) – no par value $ 3,500,000 3,500,000
Class B Shares – 138,731 shares (2010: 138,731) – no par value 13,872,109 13,872,109

$ 17,372,109 17,372,109

The holders of Class “A” shares are entitled to receive dividends in respect of their shareholding and to 
vote for the election of directors of the Company.  Any holder of 10,000 or more Class “A” shares is 
entitled to appoint one director.

With regard to distribution or liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “A” shareholders shall 
receive, before any distribution is made to the Class “B” shareholders, the stated capital of these shares 
plus an amount equivalent to a 10% annual rate of return on their initial investment in the Company, after 
the discharge of all liabilities of the Company.

Class “B” shares are reserved only for the Government of Barbados or entities owned by the 
Government.  Class “B” shares are not entitled to receive dividends or to elect the directors of the 
Company.  Upon the distribution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “B” shareholders shall 
receive the stated capital of their shares plus an amount equivalent to a 7% compounded annual rate of 
return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of their 
entitlement as stated above.

On October 1, 2010 amounts owed to CRL Limited were transferred to the equity shareholding of the 
Company in the form of 18,296 Class “B” common shares for the subscribed value of $1,829,518. The 
remaining 10 Class “A” shares previously held by CRL Limited in the capital of the Company were re-
designated as 10 Class “B” common shares. These shares are valued at $100 per share.

The Company declared and paid a dividend of $105,000 (2011: $105,000). This dividend represented 
$3.00 per qualifying Class “A” Share.
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12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued
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Experience adjustments arising on plan         
assets $ 13,749 (56,926) (32,435) (14,326) (25,158)
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13. Stated Capital
2012 2011

Class A Shares – 35,000 shares (2010: 35,000) – no par value $ 3,500,000 3,500,000
Class B Shares – 138,731 shares (2010: 138,731) – no par value 13,872,109 13,872,109

$ 17,372,109 17,372,109
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return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of their 
entitlement as stated above.

On October 1, 2010 amounts owed to CRL Limited were transferred to the equity shareholding of the 
Company in the form of 18,296 Class “B” common shares for the subscribed value of $1,829,518. The 
remaining 10 Class “A” shares previously held by CRL Limited in the capital of the Company were re-
designated as 10 Class “B” common shares. These shares are valued at $100 per share.

The Company declared and paid a dividend of $105,000 (2011: $105,000). This dividend represented 
$3.00 per qualifying Class “A” Share.
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14. Commitments

At the reporting date, $115,000 (2011: $599,354) of the cumulative funds authorised to be invested in 
approved companies, had not yet been disbursed.

15. Funds Under Management

Management fees recognized as income (net of VAT) are as follows:

2012 2011

Agricultural Development Fund $ 648,858 591,747
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund 8,996 4,892
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund 259,565 259,600
Innovation Fund 96,775 96,428
Small Hotels Investment Fund 860,943 786,219
Tourism Loan Fund 719,790 727,238

$ 2,594,927 2,466,124

Amounts receivable related to management fees as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $861,000 and 
$787,187 respectively.

The complete list of funds under the management of the Company is as follows:-

• Agricultural Development Fund
• Energy Smart Fund
• Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund
• Industrial Investment and Employment Fund
• Innovation Fund
• Small Hotels Investment Fund
• Tourism Loan Fund
• Tourism Industry Relief Fund
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16. Due to Tourism Industrial Relief Fund

On February 19, 2010 the Government of Barbados announced the creation of a $25 million Tourism 
Industrial Relief Fund (TIRF) to assist the tourism accommodation and ancillary services sub-sectors to 
remain in business and maintain employment levels during the global economic recession. This Fund is
administered by the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL). At the end of the financial year 2012 
$96,136 (2011: $96,136) remains undisbursed. 

17. Financial Risk Management

Introduction and overview
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

• operational risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.

Risk Management Framework
The Board of Directors of the Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
the Company’s risk management framework.  Risk management policies are established to identify and 
analyse the risks faced by the Company, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and the adherence to limits.  These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions, products and services offered.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s loans and investment securities.

Loans receivable
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
borrower.  A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are assessed according to 
their credit risk profile.  These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability to service their 
existing liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to determine the 
extent of credit risk. 
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued

Credit risk, Continued

Management of credit risk
The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans 
receivable, by the taking of security whose value approximates the quantum of funds advanced. The 
principal collateral types for loans are:

• Mortgages over residential/commercial properties
• Charges over business assets/bill of sale
• Personal guarantees
• Hypothecation of deposit balances

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying Amount
2012 2011

Held to maturity investments $ 2,966,807 2,890,899
Loans and receivables 8,425,257 9,116,241
Cash and cash equivalents 4,640,016 4,119,443

Total $ 16,032,080 16,126,583

Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is 
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of 
the loans/securities agreement(s).

Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management 
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or 
the stage of collection of amounts owed.

Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly 
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the 
Company’s Loan Provisioning Policy.
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued

Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are 
located in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to 
meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other
conditions.  Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.  Management does not believe that 
the concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.

Impairment losses
The aging of accounts receivable at the reporting date was:

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2012 2012 2011 2011

Not past due $ - - - -

Past due 0 – 30 days 46,174 - 45,114 -

Past due 31 – 120 days - - - -

More than one year 33,010 32,943 33,010 32,943

Total $ 79,184 32,943 78,124 32,943

The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year was as follows:

2012 2011

Balance at beginning of year $ 32,943 32,943

Bad debt recovered - -

Balance at end of year $ 32,943 32,943

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial 
liabilities.
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued

Liquidity risk, Continued

Management of liquidity risk 
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. This has been facilitated 
by using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending 
and other expenditure.  A liquidity risk table has not been presented since the outstanding liabilities are 
due within one year.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return on the investment.

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of 
business.  Liquidity risk is the risk that the company may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a 
borrower or creditor when due.  Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest 
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.

Management of market risks
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to minimise 
instances of market risk in accordance with the company’s Short Term Investment Policy. Further 
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of company resources in financial 
institutions.

Currency risk
The Company had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.

Capital Management Policy
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business.  There were no changes in the Board’s approach to 
capital management during the year.

Analysis of equity price risk
Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities held for meeting partially the unfunded 
portion of the Company’s defined benefit obligations.  Management monitors the mix of debt and equity 
securities in its investment portfolio based on market expectations.
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued

Exposure to interest rate risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in 
the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is disclosed in Notes 5, 7 and 12.

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with 
the Company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than 
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour.  Operational risks arise from all of the Company’s operations 
and are faced by all business entities.

The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that 
restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk 
is delegated to the management of the Company.

Financial income and expense
2012 2011

Interest income on unimpaired loans & receivables $ 580,459 1,053,863
Interest income on bank deposits 187,007 214,899
Reversal of loan provisions - -

Financial income 767,466 1,268,762

Financial expenses - -

Net financial income $ 767,466 1,268,762

Investments

Non-current investments
Held-to-maturity investments $ 2,966,807 2,890,899
Available-for-sale investments - -
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued

Liquidity risk, Continued

Management of liquidity risk 
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. This has been facilitated 
by using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending 
and other expenditure.  A liquidity risk table has not been presented since the outstanding liabilities are 
due within one year.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return on the investment.

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of 
business.  Liquidity risk is the risk that the company may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a 
borrower or creditor when due.  Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest 
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.

Management of market risks
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to minimise 
instances of market risk in accordance with the company’s Short Term Investment Policy. Further 
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of company resources in financial 
institutions.

Currency risk
The Company had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.

Capital Management Policy
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business.  There were no changes in the Board’s approach to 
capital management during the year.

Analysis of equity price risk
Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities held for meeting partially the unfunded 
portion of the Company’s defined benefit obligations.  Management monitors the mix of debt and equity 
securities in its investment portfolio based on market expectations.
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17. Financial Risk Management, Continued

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial position are as follows:

2012 2012 2011 2011
Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Cash and short term deposits $ 4,640,016 4,640,016 4,119,443 4,119,443
Accounts receivable & prepayments 289,846 289,846 275,655 275,655
Loans receivable, net 8,425,257 8,425,257 9,116,241 9,116,241
Preferred shares 1,242,883 1,242,883 1,500,000 1,500,000
Held to maturity investments 2,966,807 2,966,807 2,890,899 2,890,899
Due from related parties 861,011 861,011 814,517 814,517
Accounts payable (69,752) (69,752) (62,452) (62,452)
Due to Tourism Industry Relief Fund             (96,136)             (96,136)             (96,136)           (96,136)

18. Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments 

The Company’s activity as a provider of venture capital is one which involves transactions, which are 
speculative in nature.  Financial instruments consist of cash and short term deposits, accounts 
receivable, loans receivable, investments, due from related parties, accounts payable and due to related 
party and due to Tourism Industrial Relief Fund.

Fair value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged 
in current transactions between willing parties.  There is no available trading market for these financial 
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values.  The 
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.

19. Key Management Personnel Compensation

Key management personnel compensation paid during the year was as follows:

2012 2011

Salaries, directors fees and short term benefits $ 871,053 803,913

Key management personnel are entitled to post retirement benefits under the Company’s defined benefit 
pension scheme which cannot be reasonably estimated at year end.
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20. Contingencies

At February 1, 2011, the Company has signed a Bond of Guarantee with the Comptroller of Customs. 
This was negotiated in order to cover the non-payment of duties, to the tune of $250,000, for 
warehousing of goods owned by Bico Ltd.

21. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures were reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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Management Committee’s Report

The Management Committee submits its annual report and the audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 which show the state of the Fund’s affairs.

$

1. The net loss for the year was (2,815,337)

Which is added to the accumulated deficit brought forward of (6,229,858)

Resulting in an accumulated deficit to be carried forward of
     

(9,045,195)

2. The retiring auditors, Skeete, Best & Co., Chartered Accountants, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

By Order of the Management Committee

Linda Harris
Secretary
May 24, 2013

2
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 5

Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Development Accumulated
Fund Deficit Total

$ $ $

Balance at January 1, 2011 23,101,254 (4,322,556) 18,778,698

Funds received from Government 4,000,000 - 4,000,000

Grants disbursed (Note 11) (2,576,036) - (2,576,036)

Net loss - (1,907,302) (1,907,302)

Balance at December 31, 2011 24,525,218 (6,229,858) 18,295,360

Funds received from Government 13,102,000 - 13,102,000

Grants disbursed (Note 11) (4,597,287) - (4,597,287)

Net loss - (2,815,337) (2,815,337)

Balance at December 31, 2012 33,029,931 (9,045,195) 23,984,736
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 6

Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Revenue
Interest on deposits 175,177 97,158            

Interest on loans 408,008 567,703          

583,185 664,861          

Less: Interest expense 15,164 -                 

Net interest revenue 568,021 664,861          

Expenses
Bank charges 105 256                

Entertainment - 3,100             

Impairment losses (Note 12) 2,591,370 1,844,356       

Management Committee fees 2,780 2,760             

Management fees (Note 5) 762,410 695,303          

Professional fees 26,693 26,388            

3,383,358 2,572,163       

Net loss (2,815,337) (1,907,302)      

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 7

Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss (2,815,337) (1,907,302)  

Adjustment for:

   Provision for impairment losses 2,591,370 1,844,356   

Operating loss before working capital changes (223,967) (62,946)      

Decrease in interest receivable 3,685 5,271         

Loans disbursed (3,346,762) (595,434)     

Loans repaid 852,124 1,697,987   

Revolving line of credit repaid 88,973 13,853        

Purchase of available-for-sale investments (500,000) -             

Sale of short-term investments 1,027,082 -             

Purchase of short term investment (1,055,753) (1,027,082)  

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable (5,321) 11,075        

Increase in due from related parties (1,148,124) (109,235)     

Increase in due to related company 35,517 5,346         

Net cash used in operating activities (4,272,546) (61,165)      

Cash flows from financing activities
Funds received from Government 13,102,000  4,000,000   

Loan received from Central Bank of Barbados 1,520,575 -             

Grants disbursed (4,597,287) (2,576,036)  

Net cash from financing activities 10,025,288  1,423,964   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,752,742 1,362,799   

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year 6,397,114 5,034,315   

Cash and cash equivalents- end of the year 12,149,856  6,397,114   

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash 323,455 2,306,459   

Term deposits (Note 3) 11,826,401  4,090,655   

12,149,856  6,397,114   
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1. Establishment and purpose

The Agricultural Development Fund was established in Barbados by an Act of Parliament on 
December 12, 2001. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of Agriculture, are 
paid into this Fund.  These resources are used to finance projects and programmes that are 
designed for the improved development of agriculture in Barbados.

The Fund’s operations commenced on March 28, 2002.

2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

Basis of measurement 

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following 
assets are stated at their fair value: financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 
and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2012

a) The following amendments to published standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012.

• IFRS 7 “Financial instruments – Disclosures” (amendment) – effective July 1, 2011

b) The amendments below were not relevant or did not have a significant impact on the 
financial statements. 

• IFRS 1 – First-time adoption of IFRS - (revised July 1, 2011.)
• IAS 12 – Income taxes (effective January 1, 2012).

c) Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective but will be relevant to the 
Fund

• IFRS 7 – “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (effective January 1, 2013)
• IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (effective January 1, 2015)
• IFRS 13 – “Fair Value Measurement”  (effective January 1, 2013)
• IAS 1 – “Presentation of financial statements”: Revision of way other comprehensive 

income presented (effective July 1, 2012)
• IAS 32 – “Financial Instruments: Presentation” (amendment effective January 1, 

2013)
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(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

d) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet 
effective and are not relevant to the Fund’s operations

• IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (effective January 1, 2013)
• IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements (effective January 1, 2013)
• IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective January 1, 2013)
• IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (amendment effective January 1, 2013)
• IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment (amendment effective January 1, 2013)
• IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (amendment effective January 1, 2013)
• IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective January 1, 2013)
• IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting (amendment effective January 1, 2013)

Foreign currencies
Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates 
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred. Differences arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates are included in the statement of comprehensive loss.

Taxation

The fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap 73.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short term highly liquid investments which are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash without notice and which are within three (3) 
months of maturity when acquired. These are shown at amortised cost.

Short term investments

Short term investments are investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of 
cash and which are within three (3) to twelve (12) months of maturity when acquired.  These 
are shown at amortised cost.

9
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2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

d) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet 
effective and are not relevant to the Fund’s operations

• IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (effective January 1, 2013)
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• IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective January 1, 2013)
• IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (amendment effective January 1, 2013)
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• IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (amendment effective January 1, 2013)
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Foreign currencies
Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates 
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred. Differences arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates are included in the statement of comprehensive loss.

Taxation

The fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap 73.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short term highly liquid investments which are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash without notice and which are within three (3) 
months of maturity when acquired. These are shown at amortised cost.

Short term investments
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2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

Financial instruments

i) Classification

Originated loans are loans created by the Fund providing money to a debtor other 
than those created with the intention of short-term profit taking. Originated loans 
comprise loans to customers.

Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity that the Fund has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.

Available-for-sale assets are financial assets that are not financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss, originated by the Fund, or held-to-maturity. Available-for-
sale instruments include certain equity investments.

ii) Recognition

The Fund recognises financial assets on the date it commits to purchasing the assets 
or originating loans. From this date, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value of assets are recognised.

iii) Measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition all available-for-sale assets are measured at fair 
value based on their quoted market price at the balance sheet date without any 
deduction for transaction costs. Where the instrument is not actively traded or 
quoted on recognised exchanges, fair value is determined using discounted cash flow 
analysis. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash 
flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market 
related rate at the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and 
conditions.

Any available-for-sale asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and where fair value cannot be reliably measured, is stated at cost, including 
transaction costs less impairment losses.

Gains and losses arising from the change in fair value of available-for-sale 
investments subsequent to initial recognition are accounted for as changes in the 
investment revaluation reserve.

All originated loans and held-to-maturity assets are measured at amortised costs less 
impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method. 
Premiums and discounts including initial transaction costs are included in the carrying 
amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate 
of the instrument.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each financial year end to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
loss.

When there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the 
cumulative loss that had been recognised in reserves is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount 
of the cumulative loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss.

An originated loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due 
ninety days or more or if there is objective evidence that the fund will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan.

i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Fund’s originating loans is calculated as the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees 
and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at the initial recognition of these financial assets).

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessment of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

ii) Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of a loan carried at amortised cost is reversed if the 
subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. 

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

11
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

Financial instruments

i) Classification

Originated loans are loans created by the Fund providing money to a debtor other 
than those created with the intention of short-term profit taking. Originated loans 
comprise loans to customers.

Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity that the Fund has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.

Available-for-sale assets are financial assets that are not financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss, originated by the Fund, or held-to-maturity. Available-for-
sale instruments include certain equity investments.

ii) Recognition

The Fund recognises financial assets on the date it commits to purchasing the assets 
or originating loans. From this date, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value of assets are recognised.

iii) Measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition all available-for-sale assets are measured at fair 
value based on their quoted market price at the balance sheet date without any 
deduction for transaction costs. Where the instrument is not actively traded or 
quoted on recognised exchanges, fair value is determined using discounted cash flow 
analysis. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash 
flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market 
related rate at the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and 
conditions.

Any available-for-sale asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and where fair value cannot be reliably measured, is stated at cost, including 
transaction costs less impairment losses.

Gains and losses arising from the change in fair value of available-for-sale 
investments subsequent to initial recognition are accounted for as changes in the 
investment revaluation reserve.

All originated loans and held-to-maturity assets are measured at amortised costs less 
impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method. 
Premiums and discounts including initial transaction costs are included in the carrying 
amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate 
of the instrument.
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2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each financial year end to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
loss.

When there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the 
cumulative loss that had been recognised in reserves is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount 
of the cumulative loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive loss.

An originated loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due 
ninety days or more or if there is objective evidence that the fund will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan.

i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Fund’s originating loans is calculated as the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees 
and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at the initial recognition of these financial assets).

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessment of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

ii) Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of a loan carried at amortised cost is reversed if the 
subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. 

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

11
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

Revenue recognition

Loans and investments

Interest income is accounted for on the accrual basis for investments, and all other loans 
other than non-accrual loans, using the effective interest yield method. When a loan is 
classified as non-accrual, accrued but uncollected interest is reversed against income of the 
current period, unless the loan, including accrued interest, is fully secured and in the process 
of collection. Thereafter, interest income is recognised only after the loan reverts to 
performing status.

Grants 
The Fund provides grants to the agricultural sector to finance projects which contribute to 
the long-term development and sustainability of agriculture in Barbados. Such grants, when 
disbursed, are recognised in the accounts as a reduction in the equity of the Fund. 

3. Cash equivalents

These are time deposits placed with financial institutions.

Financial Institution                  Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2012

Capita Financial Services Inc. March 12, 2013 3.50% 2,072,401
Capita Financial Services Inc. March 20, 2013 3.25% 2,000,000
First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 19, 2013 2.60%     3,000,000
RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Ltd. February 28, 2013 2.50% 607,544
RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 11, 2013 2.50% 2,146,456
RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 18, 2013 2.50% 2,000,000

11,826,401

Financial Institution                  Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2011

Capita Financial Services Inc. March 12, 2012 3.75% 2,000,000
RBTT Bank Barbados Ltd. March 12, 2012 2.70%   2,090,655

         4,090,655
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

4. Short-term investments

This is a time deposit placed with a financial institution.

Financial Institution                 Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2012

First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Ltd. July 4, 2013 2.7%   1,055,753

Financial Institution                 Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2011

Butterfield Bank (Barbados) Ltd. June 29, 2012 2.8%   1,027,082

5. Related party transactions

The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of 
the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%.

Charges of $762,410 (2011 - $695,303) were incurred during the year in respect of 
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.  At December 31, 2012, 
the related party balances were as follows:

2012 2011
$ $

Due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited   (217,977) (182,460)

Due from Small Hotels Investment Fund   1,102,000 -
Due from Disaster Relief Revolving Fund                                    271,525 225,401

  1,373,525 225,401

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

6. Available-for-sale investments

(a) At year end the Fund had invested $4,000,000 in 2% cumulative, redeemable,
convertible Class A preferred shares at $1 per share in Exclusive Cottons of the 
Caribbean Inc. (ECCI) to be redeemed no later than March 31, 2015 at a price not
greater than $3.32 per share. The Fund has reserved the right to convert any dividends 
not paid within twenty-four calendar months of their due date into additional Class A 
preferred shares at a price of $1.00 per share.  The Fund’s total investment was
$4,000,000 (2011 - $4,000,000) 

Impairment allowance recognised on this investment at year end was $4,000,000 (2011 -
$4,000,000).

(b) (i) At year end the Fund had invested $3,055,769 in 7% cumulative, redeemable, 
convertible Class A preferred shares at $1 per share in The West Indies Sugar & 
Trading Company Limited (WISTCL) to be redeemed no later than December 31, 
2016 at a price no less than $1.15 per share. The Fund has reserved the right to 
convert any dividends not paid within twelve calendar months of their due date into 
additional Class A preferred shares at a price of $1 per share and $33,334 ordinary 
shares at the price of $1 per share in WISTCL.
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2.       Significant accounting policies …continued

Revenue recognition

Loans and investments

Interest income is accounted for on the accrual basis for investments, and all other loans 
other than non-accrual loans, using the effective interest yield method. When a loan is 
classified as non-accrual, accrued but uncollected interest is reversed against income of the 
current period, unless the loan, including accrued interest, is fully secured and in the process 
of collection. Thereafter, interest income is recognised only after the loan reverts to 
performing status.

Grants 
The Fund provides grants to the agricultural sector to finance projects which contribute to 
the long-term development and sustainability of agriculture in Barbados. Such grants, when 
disbursed, are recognised in the accounts as a reduction in the equity of the Fund. 

3. Cash equivalents

These are time deposits placed with financial institutions.

Financial Institution                  Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2012

Capita Financial Services Inc. March 12, 2013 3.50% 2,072,401
Capita Financial Services Inc. March 20, 2013 3.25% 2,000,000
First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 19, 2013 2.60%     3,000,000
RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Ltd. February 28, 2013 2.50% 607,544
RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 11, 2013 2.50% 2,146,456
RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 18, 2013 2.50% 2,000,000

11,826,401

Financial Institution                  Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2011

Capita Financial Services Inc. March 12, 2012 3.75% 2,000,000
RBTT Bank Barbados Ltd. March 12, 2012 2.70%   2,090,655

         4,090,655
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

4. Short-term investments

This is a time deposit placed with a financial institution.

Financial Institution                 Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2012

First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Ltd. July 4, 2013 2.7%   1,055,753

Financial Institution                 Date of Maturity Interest Rate     Principal
$

2011

Butterfield Bank (Barbados) Ltd. June 29, 2012 2.8%   1,027,082

5. Related party transactions

The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of 
the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%.

Charges of $762,410 (2011 - $695,303) were incurred during the year in respect of 
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.  At December 31, 2012, 
the related party balances were as follows:

2012 2011
$ $

Due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited   (217,977) (182,460)

Due from Small Hotels Investment Fund   1,102,000 -
Due from Disaster Relief Revolving Fund                                    271,525 225,401

  1,373,525 225,401

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

6. Available-for-sale investments

(a) At year end the Fund had invested $4,000,000 in 2% cumulative, redeemable,
convertible Class A preferred shares at $1 per share in Exclusive Cottons of the 
Caribbean Inc. (ECCI) to be redeemed no later than March 31, 2015 at a price not
greater than $3.32 per share. The Fund has reserved the right to convert any dividends 
not paid within twenty-four calendar months of their due date into additional Class A 
preferred shares at a price of $1.00 per share.  The Fund’s total investment was
$4,000,000 (2011 - $4,000,000) 

Impairment allowance recognised on this investment at year end was $4,000,000 (2011 -
$4,000,000).

(b) (i) At year end the Fund had invested $3,055,769 in 7% cumulative, redeemable, 
convertible Class A preferred shares at $1 per share in The West Indies Sugar & 
Trading Company Limited (WISTCL) to be redeemed no later than December 31, 
2016 at a price no less than $1.15 per share. The Fund has reserved the right to 
convert any dividends not paid within twelve calendar months of their due date into 
additional Class A preferred shares at a price of $1 per share and $33,334 ordinary 
shares at the price of $1 per share in WISTCL.
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

6.       Available-for-sale investments…continued

(b) (ii) During the year the Fund purchased 500,000 7% “Class A” cumulative participating 
preferred shares at $1 per share.

The Fund’s total investment in WISTCO at year end was $3,589,103 (2011 – $3,089,103).

Impairment allowance recognised on the WISTCO investment at year end was $3,589,103 
(2011 - $3,089,103).

2012 2011
$ $

Original cost 7,589,103 7,089,103
Less: Allowance for impairment    (7,589,103)     (7,089,103)

         -                   -   

7. Revolving lines of credit

The revolving lines of credit at year end comprised:

Interest rate Outstanding balance
2012 2011 2012 2011

% % $ $

Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean Inc. 6.5% 6.5%  504,136 504,136

Barbados Pig Farmers Co-op Society             3.0%       3.0%             33,527          61,147
Barbados Agricultural Development
   & Marketing Corp.  6 .5%      6.5%      3,646 65,000

541,309 630,283

Less: Provision for credit losses   (504,136) (504,136)

                                                                                                          37,173 126,147     
                           
8. Loans receivable 

The loans at year end comprised:
Interest rate Outstanding balances

2012 2011 2012 2011
% % $ $

1 year 6.5-7.0 6.5-7.0 1,974,026 685,596
2 to 5 years 6.5-7.0 6.5 1,158,369 4,187,870
Over 5 years and up to 10 years 6.5-7.0 6.5-7.0 8,149,945 7,052,661
Over 10 years and up to 15 years 6.5-7.0 6.5     3,953,805 815,380    

15,236,145 12,741,507
Less: Provision for loan losses   (4,171,030) (2,079,660)

  11,065,115 10,661,847
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

8.       Loans receivable continued

   2012 2011
$ $

Provision for loan losses
Balance at January 1 2,079,660 235,304
Increase in provision (note 12)                                                 2,091,370         1,844,356

Balance at December 31       4,171,030 2,079,660

9. Taxation
   2012 2011

$ $
Statement of Financial Position:
Withholding taxes refundable – year of income 2003          22,714 22,714

10. Long-term loan

The long-term loan is from the Central Bank of Barbados through the Industrial Credit Fund 
project. An amount of $2,340,000 was approved for lending during the year with $1,520,575 
being drawn down at the end of the financial year.

The principal is repayable in quarterly instalments of $48,750 beginning September 30, 2013. 
The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.25% per annum payable on a quarterly basis.

11. Grants disbursed

During the year, the following grants were disbursed:
2012 2011

$ $

           Barbados Agricultural Development and
              Marketing Corporation                                                             1,000,000 -

Barbados Agricultural Management Co. Ltd. 3,498,000 2,576,036
Barbados Agricultural Society        99,287 -

     4,597,287 2,576,036
12. Impairment losses

This amount is made up as follows: -
2012 2011

$ $

Increase in equity provision (note 6) 500,000 -
Increase in provision for loan losses (note 8)    2,091,370 1,844,356

      
2,591,370 1,844,356
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

6.       Available-for-sale investments…continued

(b) (ii) During the year the Fund purchased 500,000 7% “Class A” cumulative participating 
preferred shares at $1 per share.

The Fund’s total investment in WISTCO at year end was $3,589,103 (2011 – $3,089,103).

Impairment allowance recognised on the WISTCO investment at year end was $3,589,103 
(2011 - $3,089,103).

2012 2011
$ $

Original cost 7,589,103 7,089,103
Less: Allowance for impairment    (7,589,103)     (7,089,103)

         -                   -   

7. Revolving lines of credit

The revolving lines of credit at year end comprised:

Interest rate Outstanding balance
2012 2011 2012 2011

% % $ $

Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean Inc. 6.5% 6.5%  504,136 504,136

Barbados Pig Farmers Co-op Society             3.0%       3.0%             33,527          61,147
Barbados Agricultural Development
   & Marketing Corp.  6 .5%      6.5%      3,646 65,000

541,309 630,283

Less: Provision for credit losses   (504,136) (504,136)

                                                                                                          37,173 126,147     
                           
8. Loans receivable 

The loans at year end comprised:
Interest rate Outstanding balances

2012 2011 2012 2011
% % $ $

1 year 6.5-7.0 6.5-7.0 1,974,026 685,596
2 to 5 years 6.5-7.0 6.5 1,158,369 4,187,870
Over 5 years and up to 10 years 6.5-7.0 6.5-7.0 8,149,945 7,052,661
Over 10 years and up to 15 years 6.5-7.0 6.5     3,953,805 815,380    

15,236,145 12,741,507
Less: Provision for loan losses   (4,171,030) (2,079,660)

  11,065,115 10,661,847
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8.       Loans receivable continued

   2012 2011
$ $

Provision for loan losses
Balance at January 1 2,079,660 235,304
Increase in provision (note 12)                                                 2,091,370         1,844,356

Balance at December 31       4,171,030 2,079,660

9. Taxation
   2012 2011

$ $
Statement of Financial Position:
Withholding taxes refundable – year of income 2003          22,714 22,714

10. Long-term loan

The long-term loan is from the Central Bank of Barbados through the Industrial Credit Fund 
project. An amount of $2,340,000 was approved for lending during the year with $1,520,575 
being drawn down at the end of the financial year.

The principal is repayable in quarterly instalments of $48,750 beginning September 30, 2013. 
The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.25% per annum payable on a quarterly basis.

11. Grants disbursed

During the year, the following grants were disbursed:
2012 2011

$ $

           Barbados Agricultural Development and
              Marketing Corporation                                                             1,000,000 -

Barbados Agricultural Management Co. Ltd. 3,498,000 2,576,036
Barbados Agricultural Society        99,287 -

     4,597,287 2,576,036
12. Impairment losses

This amount is made up as follows: -
2012 2011

$ $

Increase in equity provision (note 6) 500,000 -
Increase in provision for loan losses (note 8)    2,091,370 1,844,356

      
2,591,370 1,844,356
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

13. Commitments

At the year end, the following commitments were outstanding:

2012 2011
$ $

Loans 769,528 3,967,818
Equity - 500,000
Grants   2,569,986 2,569,273

  3,339,514 7,780,090

14. Financial risk management

a) Introduction and overview

The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk
• operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
the objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the 
management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Management Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the Fund’s risk management framework.

The Fund’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks 
faced by the Fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks 
and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.

b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the 
Fund’s loans and investment securities.

Management of credit risk

The Management Committee has delegated responsibility for the management of 
credit risk to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related party.
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14.      Financial risk management …continued

b) Credit risk…continued

Impaired loans and securities

Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which the Fund determines 
that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due 
according to the contractual terms of the loans/securities agreement(s).

Past due but not impaired loans

Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due 
but the Fund believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of 
security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.

Allowances for impairment

The Fund monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended. 
Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set out in the Fund’s credit policy.

Write off policy

The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for 
impairment) when it determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This 
determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of 
significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position such that the 
borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will 
not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 

The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over 
property, bills of sale and/or personal or government guarantees.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
from its financial liabilities.

Management of liquidity risk

The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 

and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Fund’s reputation.

Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth 
Fund Limited, a related party.
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Agricultural Development Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

13. Commitments

At the year end, the following commitments were outstanding:

2012 2011
$ $

Loans 769,528 3,967,818
Equity - 500,000
Grants   2,569,986 2,569,273

  3,339,514 7,780,090

14. Financial risk management

a) Introduction and overview

The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk
• operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
the objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the 
management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Management Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the Fund’s risk management framework.

The Fund’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks 
faced by the Fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks 
and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.

b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the 
Fund’s loans and investment securities.

Management of credit risk

The Management Committee has delegated responsibility for the management of 
credit risk to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related party.
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14.      Financial risk management …continued

b) Credit risk…continued

Impaired loans and securities

Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which the Fund determines 
that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due 
according to the contractual terms of the loans/securities agreement(s).

Past due but not impaired loans

Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due 
but the Fund believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of 
security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.

Allowances for impairment

The Fund monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended. 
Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set out in the Fund’s credit policy.

Write off policy

The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for 
impairment) when it determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This 
determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of 
significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position such that the 
borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will 
not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 

The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over 
property, bills of sale and/or personal or government guarantees.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
from its financial liabilities.

Management of liquidity risk

The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 

and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Fund’s reputation.

Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth 
Fund Limited, a related party.
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14.      Financial risk management …continued

d) Market risk

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the 
normal course of business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to 
meet a financial commitment to a customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the 
risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest rates, commodity prices and 
their implied volatilities.

Management of market risk

Market risk is measured in accordance with established standards.

e) Exposure to interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from 
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of 
a change in market interest rates. 

Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by 
having pre-approved limits for repricing bands.

f) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of 
causes, associated with the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks 
such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted 
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s 
operations and are faced by all business entities.

The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of 
financial losses and damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness 
and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related 
party.
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15. Segment reporting

Segment reporting which conforms with International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 8 
distinguishes between two business segments – Commercial division and Developmental 
division and thus follows the Funds internal reporting structure.  The Commercial division 
encompasses those financing activities entered into with the main intention of profit 
generation while the Developmental division encompasses financial support of projects with a 
social emphasis.

2012

Segment Information Commercial Developmental Total
$ $ $

Total revenue          583,185 - 583,185

Management fees 762,410 - 762,410
Impairment losses – loans 2,091,370 - 2,091,370
Impairment losses – equity - 500,000 500,000
Other operating expenses           44,742 - 44,742

Total expenses       2,898,522 500,000 3,398,522

Net loss      (2,315,337) (500,000) (2,815,337)

Current assets 14,644,587 - 14,644,587
Non-current assets 11,102,289 - 11,102,289
Intersegment balances 95,370,044 (95,370,044) -
Liabilities 1,762,140 - 1,762,140
Funds received (disbursed) 121,105,335 (89,177,404) 31,927,931
Retained earnings (deficit) (1,250,555) (7,794,640) (9,045,195)

2011

Segment Information Commercial Developmental Total
$ $ $

Total revenue          664,861 - 664,861

Management fees 695,303 - 695,303
Impairment losses – loans 1,844,356 - 1,844,356
Other operating expenses            32,504 - 32,504

Total expenses       2,572,163 - 2,572,163

Net loss     (1,907,302) - (1,907,302)

Current assets 7,718,735 - 7,718,735
Non-current assets 10,787,994 - 10,787,994
Intersegment balances 90,772,758 (90,772,758) -
Liabilities      211,369 -      211,369
Funds received (disbursed) 108,003,336 (83,478,118) 24,525,218
Retained earnings (deficit) 1,064,782 (7,294,640) (6,229,858)
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14.      Financial risk management …continued

d) Market risk

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the 
normal course of business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to 
meet a financial commitment to a customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the 
risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest rates, commodity prices and 
their implied volatilities.

Management of market risk

Market risk is measured in accordance with established standards.

e) Exposure to interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from 
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of 
a change in market interest rates. 

Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by 
having pre-approved limits for repricing bands.

f) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of 
causes, associated with the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks 
such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted 
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s 
operations and are faced by all business entities.

The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of 
financial losses and damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness 
and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related 
party.
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division and thus follows the Funds internal reporting structure.  The Commercial division 
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2012

Segment Information Commercial Developmental Total
$ $ $

Total revenue          583,185 - 583,185

Management fees 762,410 - 762,410
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Current assets 14,644,587 - 14,644,587
Non-current assets 11,102,289 - 11,102,289
Intersegment balances 95,370,044 (95,370,044) -
Liabilities 1,762,140 - 1,762,140
Funds received (disbursed) 121,105,335 (89,177,404) 31,927,931
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Segment Information Commercial Developmental Total
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 3

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Disaster Relief Retained
Fund Earnings Total

$ $ $

Balance at December 31, 2010 2,000,000      433,114        2,433,114     

Net loss -                (150,740)       (150,740)       

Balance at December 31, 2011 2,000,000      282,374        2,282,374     

Net income -                42,211          42,211          

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,000,000      324,585        2,324,585     
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 3

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Disaster Relief Retained
Fund Earnings Total

$ $ $

Balance at December 31, 2010 2,000,000      433,114        2,433,114     

Net loss -                (150,740)       (150,740)       

Balance at December 31, 2011 2,000,000      282,374        2,282,374     

Net income -                42,211          42,211          

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,000,000      324,585        2,324,585     



6868

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 4

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of income
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Revenue
Interest on deposits 89,397 67,871                  
Interest on loans 6,514 3,994                    

95,911 71,865                   

Expenses
Bank charges 77 192                       
Provision for loan losses (Note 4) 46,170 215,980                 
Professional fees 7,454 6,434                    

53,701 222,606                  

Net income (loss) 42,211 (150,740)               

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 5

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net  income  (loss) 42,211 (150,740)           
Adjustment for:
   Provision for loan losses 46,170 215,980            

Operating profit before working capital changes 88,381 65,240              
Decrease (increase) in interest receivable 278 (18,900)            
Loans disbursed (86,272) (240,610)           
Loans repaid 40,101 24,630              
Increase in accounts payable 1,226 500                  
Increase in amounts due to related party 46,124 113,421            

Cash generated from (used in) operations 89,839 (55,719)            

Net increase (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 89,839 (55,719)             

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 2,445,675 2,501,394         

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 2,535,514 2,445,675         

Represented by:
Cash 25,128 24,336              
Term deposits 2,510,386 2,421,339         

2,535,514 2,445,675          
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 4

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of income
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
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Professional fees 7,454 6,434                    

53,701 222,606                  

Net income (loss) 42,211 (150,740)               
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 5
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Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 2,445,675 2,501,394         
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

1. Establishment and purpose

The Disaster Relief Revolving Fund (hereinafter referred to as ‘The Fund’) was established in 
Barbados by the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs in his Economic and Financial 
Policies dated December 7, 2004. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of 
Agriculture, are paid into this Fund.  These financial resources are managed solely by the 
Agricultural Development Fund (ADF) and are used to provide agricultural producers, who 
have been affected by a disaster, with access to a revolving loan facility that offers lenient 
repayment terms, to assist in restoring their operations to their pre-disaster status.

The Fund’s operations commenced on April 01, 2005 when the first contribution was 
received.

2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared 
under the historical cost convention. 

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.

Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis for all interest 
bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income from loans is not 
accrued if a loan becomes impaired. In subsequent periods, any interest received on 
impaired loans is accounted for on a cash basis. Interest income includes interest earned on 
term deposits.

Foreign currencies

Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates 
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred.  Differences arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates are included in the statement of income.

Taxation

The Fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, CAP 73.
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies …continued

Loans receivable and allowances for loan losses

Loans are categorised as originating loans and are carried at amortised cost.  These loans are 
secured by promissory notes.

A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or 
more, or, there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the loan.  The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the loan.  The recoverable 
amount of the loan is the present value of the expected cash flows discounted based on the 
interest rate at inception of the loan.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance.  Any subsequent 
amounts recovered are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of income.

3. Cash and cash equivalents

This includes term deposits of $2,510,386 (2011 - $2,421,339) that were placed with 
financial institutions for a period of three to six months. The deposits earn interest at rates
were 2.5%- 4% per annum (2011 – 2.5%- 4%).

Principal Principal
2012 2011

Financial Institution Date of Maturity Interest rate $ $

RBC Royal   
Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 19, 2013 2.5% 637,062 621,339

Capita Financial
Services Inc. March 25, 2013 4.0%   1,873,324 1,800,000

2,510,386 2,421,339

Cash      25,128        24,336

2,535,514 2,445,675

7
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

1. Establishment and purpose

The Disaster Relief Revolving Fund (hereinafter referred to as ‘The Fund’) was established in 
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Policies dated December 7, 2004. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of 
Agriculture, are paid into this Fund.  These financial resources are managed solely by the 
Agricultural Development Fund (ADF) and are used to provide agricultural producers, who 
have been affected by a disaster, with access to a revolving loan facility that offers lenient 
repayment terms, to assist in restoring their operations to their pre-disaster status.

The Fund’s operations commenced on April 01, 2005 when the first contribution was 
received.

2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared 
under the historical cost convention. 

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.

Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis for all interest 
bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income from loans is not 
accrued if a loan becomes impaired. In subsequent periods, any interest received on 
impaired loans is accounted for on a cash basis. Interest income includes interest earned on 
term deposits.

Foreign currencies

Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates 
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred.  Differences arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates are included in the statement of income.

Taxation

The Fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, CAP 73.
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Year ended December 31, 2012
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2. Significant accounting policies …continued

Loans receivable and allowances for loan losses

Loans are categorised as originating loans and are carried at amortised cost.  These loans are 
secured by promissory notes.

A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or 
more, or, there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the loan.  The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the loan.  The recoverable 
amount of the loan is the present value of the expected cash flows discounted based on the 
interest rate at inception of the loan.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance.  Any subsequent 
amounts recovered are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of income.

3. Cash and cash equivalents

This includes term deposits of $2,510,386 (2011 - $2,421,339) that were placed with 
financial institutions for a period of three to six months. The deposits earn interest at rates
were 2.5%- 4% per annum (2011 – 2.5%- 4%).

Principal Principal
2012 2011

Financial Institution Date of Maturity Interest rate $ $

RBC Royal   
Bank (Barbados) Ltd. March 19, 2013 2.5% 637,062 621,339

Capita Financial
Services Inc. March 25, 2013 4.0%   1,873,324 1,800,000
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Cash      25,128        24,336
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

4. Loans receivable

Loans receivable are comprised as follows:

Recipient Maturity Date Interest Rate 2012 2011
$ $

Alvin Cox       May 31, 2016 3% 37,200 44,841
Anthony Straker         April 30, 2015                             3% 7,350 13,133
Carlson Forde October 30, 2012 3% 26,244 26,244
Egbert Maloney April 28, 2012 3% 4,115 4,115
Trevor Mayers February, 28 2019 3% 43,412 -
Glenroy Grant October 30, 2010 3% 6,983 7,172
Grantley Small March 31, 2015 3% 11,858 16,942
Grantley Small          November 28, 2016 3%          7,022 -
Jannis Greenidge September 30, 2018 3% 27,242 13,978
Jennoah Woodley April 28, 2010 3% 6,324 6,324
Jeffrey Wharton November 28, 2017 3% 15,158       9,011
Mark Jordan January 30, 2014 3% 2,382       4,478
Masefield Graham September 28, 2017 3% 21,312 24,000
Nateisha Layne November 28, 2018 3% 37,219 31,244
Rawle William April 30, 2018 3% 39,603 48,220
Raymond Wilson June 30, 2014 3% 29,051 29,051     
Hamilton Corbin September 30, 2015 3% 21,786 21,786
Hamilton Corbin May 28, 2014 3% 5,089 -
Peter Harewood September 30, 2011 3% 3,500 3,500
Venis Lowe December30, 2017 3% 16,476 19,276
Junior Clarke February 28, 2013 3%        2,995      3,904

372,321 326,151

Less: Provision for loan losses (372,321) (326,151)

Total             - -   

Provision for Loan Losses
Balance at January 1 326,151 110,171
Increase in provision     46,170 215,980

Balance at December 31    372,321 326,151

8

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

5. Related party transactions

The Fund is administered by the Agricultural Development Fund.  At December 31, 2012 the 
Fund had a balance due to the Agricultural Development Fund of $271,525 (2011 -
$225,401).  This balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to, the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of 
the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%.

Charges of $55,094 (2011 - $55,094) were incurred during the year in respect of
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited for management services 
provided to the Disaster Relief Revolving Fund. These fees are borne out of the funds of the 
Agricultural Development Fund.

6. Commitments

At the year end, the Fund had $12,579 (2011 – $35,672) commitments outstanding as
follows:

2012 2011
$ $

Jannis Greenidge - 15,716
Jeffrey Wharton - 7,989
Kelvin Phillips 5,991 5,991
Nateisha Layne - 5,976
Trevor Mayers   6,588 -    

  12,579 35,672

7. Financial risk management

Fair value

The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value of each class of financial 
instruments are as follows:

a) Cash and cash equivalents, withholding tax refundable, due to related party and
accounts payable.

Due to the short-term nature of these financial assets and liabilities their carrying values 
approximate their fair values.

b) Loans receivable

The rates of interest in the portfolio reflect market conditions and their carrying 
amounts, net of provision for loan losses, approximate their fair values.

9
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

4. Loans receivable

Loans receivable are comprised as follows:

Recipient Maturity Date Interest Rate 2012 2011
$ $

Alvin Cox       May 31, 2016 3% 37,200 44,841
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Increase in provision     46,170 215,980

Balance at December 31    372,321 326,151
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

5. Related party transactions

The Fund is administered by the Agricultural Development Fund.  At December 31, 2012 the 
Fund had a balance due to the Agricultural Development Fund of $271,525 (2011 -
$225,401).  This balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to, the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of 
the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%.

Charges of $55,094 (2011 - $55,094) were incurred during the year in respect of
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited for management services 
provided to the Disaster Relief Revolving Fund. These fees are borne out of the funds of the 
Agricultural Development Fund.

6. Commitments

At the year end, the Fund had $12,579 (2011 – $35,672) commitments outstanding as
follows:

2012 2011
$ $

Jannis Greenidge - 15,716
Jeffrey Wharton - 7,989
Kelvin Phillips 5,991 5,991
Nateisha Layne - 5,976
Trevor Mayers   6,588 -    

  12,579 35,672

7. Financial risk management

Fair value

The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value of each class of financial 
instruments are as follows:

a) Cash and cash equivalents, withholding tax refundable, due to related party and
accounts payable.
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approximate their fair values.

b) Loans receivable

The rates of interest in the portfolio reflect market conditions and their carrying 
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

7. Financial risk management….continued

Interest rate risk

The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities and the loan interest rates are fixed by the 
Fund managers based on commercial banks’ prime rate. The Fund therefore can exert some 
measure of control over its exposure to interest rate risk, and so the risk is not considered to 
be significant.

Credit risk

The Fund had no significant credit risk at the end of the financial year.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities.

10
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(expressed in Barbados dollars)

7. Financial risk management….continued

Interest rate risk

The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities and the loan interest rates are fixed by the 
Fund managers based on commercial banks’ prime rate. The Fund therefore can exert some 
measure of control over its exposure to interest rate risk, and so the risk is not considered to 
be significant.
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Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities.
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“I’d put my money on the sun 
and solar energy.  What a source 
of power! I hope we don’t have 
to wait ‘til oil and coal run out 

before we tackle that”
Thomas Edison (1847-1931)

We decided to act! It is clear that Barbados can benefit 
substantially from renewable energy and the Government 
of Barbados has launched certain initiatives to safeguard 
our energy security including the establishment of the 
“Energy Smart Fund” which facilitates the development 
of a more sustainable energy sector through the provision 
of attractive financing options for the implementation of 
renewable energy and energy efficiency projects.
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Caribbean Digital Media Centre Inc.



Export 
Promotion and 

Marketing Fund
Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012

“We can create a more 
sustainable, cleaner and 

safer world by making wiser 
energy choices.”

Robert Alan Silverstein

Businesses looking to capitalise on renewable 
energy export opportunities may access 
financing from the Export Promotion and 
Marketing Fund to help maximise their revenue 
earning capacity and contribute to a safer and 
greener future.
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 5

Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Retained
Earnings Fund Total

$ $ $

Balance at December 31, 2010 550,703            4,813,837         5,364,540         

Grants disbursed (Note 6) -                   (489,157)          (489,157)          

Net income for the year 154,275            -                  154,275           

Balance at December 31, 2011 704,978            4,324,680         5,029,658         

Grants disbursed (Note 6) - (899,587)          (899,587)          

Net income for the year 139,059            - 139,059           

Balance at December 31, 2012 844,037 3,425,093 4,269,130
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
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Earnings Fund Total
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 6

Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Revenue
Interest on deposits 162,631 183,112         

Expenses
Bank charges 77 76                
Management fees 10,570 5,748            
Professional fees 12,925 23,013          

23,572 28,837           

Net income and total comprehensive income for the year 139,059 154,275         

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

 7

Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income for the year 139,059 154,275            

Operating income before working capital changes 139,059 154,275            
Decrease (increase) in interest receivable 11,092 (3,729)              
Increase in accounts payable - 688                  
Increase in due to related party 3,176 -                   
Proceeds from (purchases of) short term investments 2,465,051 (4,595,887)        

Net cash from operating activities 2,618,378 (4,444,653)        

Cash flows from financing activities
Grants disbursed (899,587) (489,157)           

Net decrease in cash 1,718,791 (4,933,810)        

Cash and cash equivalents -  beginning of year 353,216 5,287,026         

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year (Note 3) 2,072,007 353,216            
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

1. Establishment and purpose 

The Export Promotion and Marketing Fund (hereinafter referred to as ‘The Fund’) was 
established by the Parliament of Barbados through the Export Promotion and Marketing Fund 
Act, 2005.  Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of Finance, are paid into this 
Fund. The purposes of the Fund are to provide funding by way of a grant to corporate 
entities including statutory corporations involved in the business of exporting and to assist 
these entities with the development, promotion and marketing of products and services.

The Fund’s operations commenced on January 31, 2007 when the first contribution was 
received.

2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared 
under the historical cost convention. 

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis for all interest
bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes interest 
earned on time deposits.

Taxation

The fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap 73.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short term highly liquid investments which are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash without notice and which are within three (3) 
months of maturity when acquired. These are shown at cost.

Short term investments

Short term investments are investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are within three (3) to twelve (12) months of maturity when acquired.  These 
are shown at cost.

8

Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

3. Cash and cash equivalents

2012 2011
$ $

Cash at bank – RBC Royal Bank – current account   2,072,007 353,216

4. Short term investments

These are time deposits placed with a financial institution for a period greater than (3) three 
months but not exceeding (12) twelve months at the time of acquisition.

                         Date of Maturity Interest Rate               2012 2011
                                                   $ $

Term Deposits – CAPITA      May 27, 2013 4.00%            2,130,836 -  

Term Deposits – CAPITA      May 25, 2012                    4.25%                      -  2,042,616

Term Deposits – CAPITA      November 26, 2012          4.25%     -   2,553,271

  2,130,836 4,595,887

5. Related party transactions 

The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a 1% management fee which is based on grants disbursed 
during the year.

Charges of $10,570 (2011 - $5,748) were incurred during the year in respect of management 
fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited for management services provided to the 
Export Promotion and Marketing Fund.

6. Grants disbursed

2012 2011
$ $

Grants disbursed – beginning of year 15,888,274 15,399,117
Grants disbursed – during the year     899,587 489,157

Grants disbursed – end of year   16,787,861 15,888,274

9
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

6. Grants disbursed...continued

The cumulative grants disbursed at December 31, 2012 comprise the following amounts: -

2012 2011
$ $

Art & Stage Inc. 136,097 136,097
B.A.G Consulting Ltd 60,000 60,000
Banks Holdings Limited 1,409,479 1,159,479
Barbados Investment Dev. Corp 763,000 763,000
Caribbean Media Corporation       620,000      620,000
Caribbean Digital Media Centre 220,000 -
Entertainment Network Inc. 51,857 51,857
Got Rhythm Inc. 230,000 230,000
Invest Barbados 12,344,241 12,344,241
National Council for Science & Technology 250,000 -
PAM Enterprises 25,337 -
Pyramid Entertainment Management Inc. 450,000 450,000
Smart Fund 129,250 -
Tropical Blooms (B’dos) Inc.        73,600 73,600
Yolande Grant         25,000 -

         16,787,861 15,888,274

7. Commitments

At year end, the following commitments were outstanding:

2012 2011
$ $

Banks Holdings Limited 962,121 1,212,121
Caribbean Digital Media Centre 30,000 -
P.A.M Enterprises Inc.      44,663 -
Richard Stoute Teen Talent 400,000 400,000
Smart Fund    470,750 -

  1,907,534    1,612,121

8. Financial risk management

Fair value

The company’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, short term investments
and interest receivable.  Financial liabilities include accounts payable and due to related 
party.  The carrying value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the 
statement of financial position at their approximate fair value.

10

Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

8. Financial risk management...continued

Interest rate risk

The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities, as disclosed in Notes 3 and 4. The risk is 
not considered to be significant.

Credit risk

The Fund had no significant credit risk at the end of the financial year. The amount of the 
Fund’s exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its financial assets.  

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities.

11
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
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“Powering a sustainable 
energy future”
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which would enable manufacturers to retool 
and adopt new technolgies and methods and 
ultimately improve their energy efficiency and 
viability.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Statement of Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes 2012
Revenue

2011

Interest Income $ 359,377 371,996

Expenses
Management fees 5 304,989 305,031
Loan loss expense/(recoveries) 6 145,465 (90,326)
Bank charges 152 146
Professional fees 38,725 25,376

489,331 240,227

Net (loss)/income and comprehensive (loss)/income $ (129,954) 131,769

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

5

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Statement of Changes in Fund Balance

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Accumulated
Contribution Deficit Total

Balances, December 31, 2010 $ 15,000,000 (6,841,906) 8,158,094

Comprehensive income - 131,769 131,769

Balances at December 31, 2011 15,000,000 (6,710,137) 8,289,863

Comprehensive loss - (129,954) (129,954)

Balances at December 31, 2012 $ 15,000,000 (6,840,091) 8,159,909

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (129,954) 131,769
Adjustments for:
Loan provision (recoveries) 145,465 (90,326)
Interest income (359,377) (371,996)
Interest received 374,796 361,788

Operating profit before working capital changes 30,930 31,235

Decrease in loans receivable 65,296 384,567
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties 16,994 (6,010)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 3,843 (1,095)

Net cash from operating activities 117,063 408,697

Cash flows from investing activities
Sale (purchase) of short term investments 95,518 (1,780,291)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 95,518 (1,780,291)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 212,581 (1,371,594)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 780,309 2,151,903

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 992,890 780,309

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash $ 360,702 165,211

Short term deposits 632,188 615,098

$ 992,890 780,309

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

7

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

The Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund (“IIEF” or the “Fund”) began operations in Barbados on 
August 9, 2002 and was funded with an initial transfer from the Government of Barbados of $15 million.
These contributions are used to provide financing to local manufacturers to enhance and expand the 
productive capacity of the manufacturing sector in order to improve the level of competitiveness and 
financial viability. A further contribution of $10 million was budgeted however this has not been realised 
as a result of the poor performance of the Fund.
.
The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and it is managed by 
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (the “Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is 
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens Barbarees Hill, St. Michael. The 
Investment Committee and the Board of Directors of EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval 
and ratification of loans issued by IIEF.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustees on April 25, 2013.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historic cost basis in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).  IFRS incorporates all International Accounting Standards (IAS) and interpretations issued by the
predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee.  The preparation of the financial 
statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting
date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.  Actual amounts could differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency.
These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with 
original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
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For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (129,954) 131,769
Adjustments for:
Loan provision (recoveries) 145,465 (90,326)
Interest income (359,377) (371,996)
Interest received 374,796 361,788

Operating profit before working capital changes 30,930 31,235

Decrease in loans receivable 65,296 384,567
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties 16,994 (6,010)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 3,843 (1,095)

Net cash from operating activities 117,063 408,697

Cash flows from investing activities
Sale (purchase) of short term investments 95,518 (1,780,291)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 95,518 (1,780,291)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 212,581 (1,371,594)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 780,309 2,151,903

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 992,890 780,309

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash $ 360,702 165,211

Short term deposits 632,188 615,098

$ 992,890 780,309

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

The Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund (“IIEF” or the “Fund”) began operations in Barbados on 
August 9, 2002 and was funded with an initial transfer from the Government of Barbados of $15 million.
These contributions are used to provide financing to local manufacturers to enhance and expand the 
productive capacity of the manufacturing sector in order to improve the level of competitiveness and 
financial viability. A further contribution of $10 million was budgeted however this has not been realised 
as a result of the poor performance of the Fund.
.
The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and it is managed by 
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (the “Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is 
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens Barbarees Hill, St. Michael. The 
Investment Committee and the Board of Directors of EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval 
and ratification of loans issued by IIEF.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustees on April 25, 2013.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historic cost basis in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).  IFRS incorporates all International Accounting Standards (IAS) and interpretations issued by the
predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee.  The preparation of the financial 
statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting
date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.  Actual amounts could differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency.
These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with 
original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
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Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)

(d) Revenue recognition 

Interest income on loans receivable is accounted for on an accrual basis using the effective interest 
method and is classified as accrued interest receivable to the extent that it is not received in the period in 
which it accrues.

Loans are placed on a non-accrual basis when there is reasonable doubt regarding the collectibility of 
principal or interest or when principal and/or interest payments are ninety days or more in arrears. Upon 
classification of a loan to a non-accrual basis, any previously accrued but unpaid interest thereon, is 
reversed against the current period.  Interest is only accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid and 
total accrued interest does not exceed one hundred and eighty days. In subsequent periods, interest 
received on non-accrual loans is recorded as income only if management has determined that the loans 
do not require specific provisions, otherwise all amounts are credited to principal.

(e) Provision for loan losses

Specific provisions are made on an individual loan, where management is of the opinion that collection is 
doubtful.  

(f) Contributions

Contributions from the Government of Barbados are recorded in the statement of changes in Fund
balance.

(g) Investments

Investments comprising term deposits are categorised as held to maturity and are carried at cost.

(h) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)

(i) New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial statements.   
These are as follows: 

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2011), effective January 1, 2013
• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, effective January 1, 2013
• Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments, effective January 1, 2015

(j) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant 
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related 
parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2012 2011

Cash $ 360,702 165,211
Short term deposits 632,188 615,098

$ 992,890 780,309

Short term deposits consist primarily of fixed deposits with interest rates at 2.75% (2011: 2.50% - 2.75%) 
per annum.

4. Investments

These include term deposits with a maturity period in excess of 90 days. At the reporting date the 
effective interest rates ranged from 2.70% - 4.0% per annum (2011: 2.80% - 4.50% per annum).  Short 
term investments with original maturity dates of 90 days or less have been classified as cash 
equivalents.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)

(d) Revenue recognition 

Interest income on loans receivable is accounted for on an accrual basis using the effective interest 
method and is classified as accrued interest receivable to the extent that it is not received in the period in 
which it accrues.

Loans are placed on a non-accrual basis when there is reasonable doubt regarding the collectibility of 
principal or interest or when principal and/or interest payments are ninety days or more in arrears. Upon 
classification of a loan to a non-accrual basis, any previously accrued but unpaid interest thereon, is 
reversed against the current period.  Interest is only accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid and 
total accrued interest does not exceed one hundred and eighty days. In subsequent periods, interest 
received on non-accrual loans is recorded as income only if management has determined that the loans 
do not require specific provisions, otherwise all amounts are credited to principal.

(e) Provision for loan losses

Specific provisions are made on an individual loan, where management is of the opinion that collection is 
doubtful.  

(f) Contributions

Contributions from the Government of Barbados are recorded in the statement of changes in Fund
balance.

(g) Investments

Investments comprising term deposits are categorised as held to maturity and are carried at cost.

(h) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.

9
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Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)

(i) New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial statements.   
These are as follows: 

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2011), effective January 1, 2013
• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, effective January 1, 2013
• Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments, effective January 1, 2015

(j) Related parties

Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant 
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related 
parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2012 2011

Cash $ 360,702 165,211
Short term deposits 632,188 615,098

$ 992,890 780,309

Short term deposits consist primarily of fixed deposits with interest rates at 2.75% (2011: 2.50% - 2.75%) 
per annum.

4. Investments

These include term deposits with a maturity period in excess of 90 days. At the reporting date the 
effective interest rates ranged from 2.70% - 4.0% per annum (2011: 2.80% - 4.50% per annum).  Short 
term investments with original maturity dates of 90 days or less have been classified as cash 
equivalents.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

5. Management Fees

Management fees are due to EGFL and are based on a contractual percentage of the average gross 
assets of the fund outstanding. Total management fees expensed during the year amounted to $304,989
(2011: $305,031). 

6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable - Net

2012 2011

Loans $ 6,390,130 6,456,426
Bonds 200,000 200,000
Revolving lines of credit 1,243,688 1,242,688

$ 7,833,818 7,899,114

Less Provision:
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,551,761 2,642,087
Increase (decrease) in provision for loan losses 145,465 (90,326)

$ 2,697,226 2,551,761

Balance, end of year $ 5,136,592 5,347,353

The maturity structure of loans, bonds and lines of credit receivable-net is:

2012 2011

On demand (Lines of credit) $ 1,243,688 1,242,688
Over 5 years (Bonds and Loans) 6,590,130 6,656,426

$ 7,833,818 7,899,114

The interest rate applicable to the loans and lines of credit receivable ranged from 5.50% - 6.50% at the 
end of 2012 (2011: 5.50% - 6.50%). The annual interest rate applicable to all bonds was 10% for 2012
(2011: 10%).
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable – Net, (continued)

The maximum loan allowed is the greater of $2,000,000 and 8% of the total capitalisation balance of the 
Fund. Loans with repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be granted a grace period limited to one
(1) year (the period during which only interest payments are due and payable). For loans with repayment 
periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the grace period will be two 
(2) years.  Loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years, the grace period will be for three 
(3) years.  The grace period is limited to the length of the contract for construction or installation.  Loans 
receivable include revolving lines of credit which are due on demand.

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgages on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s).

When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent
recoveries are credited to the provision for loan/investment losses in the statement of comprehensive
income. As at the reporting date, interest not recognised in respect of delinquent loans amounted to 
$901,676 (2011: $755,979).

7. Due to Related Parties

2012 2011

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited $ 80,592 86,016
Agricultural Development Fund 22,418 -

$ 103,010 86,016

Due to related parties consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the financial 
year in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund Limited 
(EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund using contractual rates. 

These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and 
have no fixed terms of repayment.

8. Commitments

At the reporting date, $106,074 (2011: $625,400) of the loans approved had not yet been disbursed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

5. Management Fees

Management fees are due to EGFL and are based on a contractual percentage of the average gross 
assets of the fund outstanding. Total management fees expensed during the year amounted to $304,989
(2011: $305,031). 

6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable - Net

2012 2011

Loans $ 6,390,130 6,456,426
Bonds 200,000 200,000
Revolving lines of credit 1,243,688 1,242,688

$ 7,833,818 7,899,114

Less Provision:
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,551,761 2,642,087
Increase (decrease) in provision for loan losses 145,465 (90,326)

$ 2,697,226 2,551,761

Balance, end of year $ 5,136,592 5,347,353

The maturity structure of loans, bonds and lines of credit receivable-net is:

2012 2011

On demand (Lines of credit) $ 1,243,688 1,242,688
Over 5 years (Bonds and Loans) 6,590,130 6,656,426

$ 7,833,818 7,899,114

The interest rate applicable to the loans and lines of credit receivable ranged from 5.50% - 6.50% at the 
end of 2012 (2011: 5.50% - 6.50%). The annual interest rate applicable to all bonds was 10% for 2012
(2011: 10%).
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6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable – Net, (continued)

The maximum loan allowed is the greater of $2,000,000 and 8% of the total capitalisation balance of the 
Fund. Loans with repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be granted a grace period limited to one
(1) year (the period during which only interest payments are due and payable). For loans with repayment 
periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the grace period will be two 
(2) years.  Loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years, the grace period will be for three 
(3) years.  The grace period is limited to the length of the contract for construction or installation.  Loans 
receivable include revolving lines of credit which are due on demand.

Security is by way of first or second legal mortgages on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s).

When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent
recoveries are credited to the provision for loan/investment losses in the statement of comprehensive
income. As at the reporting date, interest not recognised in respect of delinquent loans amounted to 
$901,676 (2011: $755,979).

7. Due to Related Parties

2012 2011

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited $ 80,592 86,016
Agricultural Development Fund 22,418 -

$ 103,010 86,016

Due to related parties consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the financial 
year in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund Limited 
(EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund using contractual rates. 

These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and 
have no fixed terms of repayment.

8. Commitments

At the reporting date, $106,074 (2011: $625,400) of the loans approved had not yet been disbursed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

9. Corporation tax

Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund (IIEF) is not a legal entity, but functions as a segregated 
pool of funds and therefore under the Income Tax Act, the tax treatment is similar to that of a non-
incorporated entity. The IIEF applied to the Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs for waiver of 
corporation and withholding taxes and in 2006 the Ministry communicated to IIEF that waiver was 
granted for 2003 - 2005.

Subsequently, the Income Tax Act Cap 73 was amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by the 
Government and used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors of the economy. 

10. Financial Risk Management

Introduction and overview

The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

• operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.

Risk Management Framework

The Trustees of the Fund have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s 
risk management framework.  Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks 
faced by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the 
adherence to limits.  These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions, products and services offered.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loans and investments.

13

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Loans receivable

The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each borrower.
A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are categorized according to their 
credit risk profile.  These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability to service their 
existing liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to determine the 
extent of credit risk. 

Management of credit risk

The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans 
receivable, by the taking of security whose value approximates the quantum of funds advanced. The 
principal collateral types for loans are:

• Mortgages over residential/commercial properties

• Charges over business assets/bill of sale

• Personal guarantees

• Hypothecation of deposit balances

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying Amount

2012 2011

Loans, bonds and lines of credit receivable $ 5,136,592 5,347,353
Cash and short term deposits 992,890 780,309
Investments 1,997,043 2,092,561

Total $ 8,126,525 8,220,223

Impaired loans and securities

Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is 
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of 
the loans/securities agreement(s).
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Loans receivable

The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each borrower.
A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are categorized according to their 
credit risk profile.  These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability to service their 
existing liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to determine the 
extent of credit risk. 

Management of credit risk

The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans 
receivable, by the taking of security whose value approximates the quantum of funds advanced. The 
principal collateral types for loans are:

• Mortgages over residential/commercial properties

• Charges over business assets/bill of sale

• Personal guarantees

• Hypothecation of deposit balances

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
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2012 2011

Loans, bonds and lines of credit receivable $ 5,136,592 5,347,353
Cash and short term deposits 992,890 780,309
Investments 1,997,043 2,092,561

Total $ 8,126,525 8,220,223

Impaired loans and securities

Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is 
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of 
the loans/securities agreement(s).
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Past due but not impaired loans

Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or 
the stage of collection of amounts owed.

Allowances for impairment

Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly 
preparation of a delinquency report.  Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s 
Loan Provisioning Policy.

Concentration of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are 
located in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to 
meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions.  Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.  Management does not believe that 
the concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.

Write-off Policy

The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it 
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering 
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position 
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be 
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of sale 
and/or personal or government guarantees.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial 
liabilities.

Management of Liquidity Risk 

Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. This has been facilitated by 
using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending and 
other expenditure.
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return on the investment.

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of 
business.  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a 
borrower or creditor when due.  Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest 
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.

Management of Market Risks

Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to minimise 
instances of market risk in accordance with the company’s Short Term Investment Policy. Further 
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of company resources in financial 
institutions.

Currency risk

The Fund had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.

Capital Management Policy

Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  There were no changes in management’s 
approach to capital management during the year.

Exposure to interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the 
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.

Except as disclosed in Notes 3, 4 and 6 the Fund does not have any exposure to interest rate risk. 
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Past due but not impaired loans

Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or 
the stage of collection of amounts owed.

Allowances for impairment

Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly 
preparation of a delinquency report.  Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s 
Loan Provisioning Policy.

Concentration of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are 
located in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to 
meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions.  Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.  Management does not believe that 
the concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.

Write-off Policy

The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it 
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering 
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position 
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be 
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of sale 
and/or personal or government guarantees.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial 
liabilities.

Management of Liquidity Risk 

Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. This has been facilitated by 
using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending and 
other expenditure.
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return on the investment.

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of 
business.  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a 
borrower or creditor when due.  Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest 
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.

Management of Market Risks

Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to minimise 
instances of market risk in accordance with the company’s Short Term Investment Policy. Further 
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of company resources in financial 
institutions.

Currency risk
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Capital Management Policy

Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  There were no changes in management’s 
approach to capital management during the year.

Exposure to interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the 
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.

Except as disclosed in Notes 3, 4 and 6 the Fund does not have any exposure to interest rate risk. 
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with 
the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour.  Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations and 
are faced by all business entities.

The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that 
restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk 
is delegated to the management of the Fund.

Financial income

2012 2011

Interest income on unimpaired loans receivable $ 278,382 305,566
Interest income on short term deposits 80,995 66,430

Financial income $ 359,377 371,996

17

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

11. Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments 

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of 
Financial Position are as follows:

2012 2012 2011 2012
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 992,890 992,890 780,309 780,309
Investments 1,997,043 1,997,043 2,092,561 2,092,561
Loans, bonds, LOC receivable- net 5,136,592 5,136,592 5,347,353 5,347,353
Interest receivable 26,304 26,304 41,723 41,723
Accounts payable 18,748 18,748 (14,905) (14,905)
Due to related parties 103,010 103,010 (86,016) (86,016)

The Fund’s activity as a provider of financing to local manufacturers to enhance and expand the 
productive capacity of the manufacturing sector is one which involves transactions, which are speculative 
in nature.  Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments, loans, bonds, lines 
of credit receivable - net, interest receivable and accounts payable and due to related parties.

Fair value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged 
in current transactions between willing parties.  There is no available trading market for these financial 
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values.  The 
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 5

The Innovation Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Innovation Accumulated
Fund Deficit Total

$ $ $

Balance at December 31, 2010 4,472,347 (2,409,967) 2,062,380

Grants disbursed - competition expenses (Note 7) (65,000) - (65,000)

Net loss for the year - (92,821) (92,821)

Balance at December 31, 2011 4,407,347 (2,502,788) 1,904,559

Grants disbursed - competition expenses (Note 7) (144,026) - (144,026)

Technical assistance grant (Note 7) (10,200) - (10,200)

Transfer from Export, Promotion and Marketing Fund (Note 7) 250,000 - 250,000

Net loss for the year - (85,780) (85,780)

Balance at December 31, 2012 4,503,121 (2,588,568) 1,914,553
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 6

The Innovation Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Loss
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Revenue

Interest income 38,758 30,141           

Expenses
Bank charges 78 121               
Decrease in provision for impairment of investments (400) -                
Investment committee fees and meeting expenses 3,450 2,800            
Management fees 113,710 113,303         
Professional fees 7,700 6,738            

124,538 122,962          

Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (85,780) (92,821)         

             The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 7

The Innovation Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year (85,780) (92,821)         
Adjustment for:
Decrease in provision for impairment of investments (400) -                

Operating loss before working capital adjustments: (86,180) (92,821)         
Increase in interest receivable (262) (6,844)           
Increase in accounts payable and accruals 1,837 2,075            
Increase in due to related party 125 709               

Net cash used in operating activities (84,480) (96,881)         

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments (31,549) (248,693)        

Cash flows from financing activities
Grants disbursed - competition expenses (144,026) (65,000)         
Technical assistance grant (10,200) -                
Transfer from Export, Promotion and Marketing Fund 250,000 -                

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (20,255) (410,574)        
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 1,144,047 1,554,621      

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year (Note 3) 1,123,792 1,144,047      
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The Innovation Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

1. Establishment and purpose

The Innovation Fund was established for the purpose of providing funding and technical 
assistance to small and emerging innovative enterprises to properly develop a concept or 
product and to develop the business to the stage where it can obtain the additional financing 
needed to commercialize the concept or product fully.  It was funded by Bds$5,000,000 
transferred by the Crown to Trustees under a Deed of Trust, dated October 2002. The Fund 
commenced operations on January 15, 2003.

2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board.  They are prepared 
under the historical cost convention. 

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis for all interest 
bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes interest 
earned on time deposits.

Taxation

The fund is exempt from income tax under Section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap.73.

Term deposits with bank

These are call and fixed deposits with original maturity dates of 90 days or less.

Equity Investments

Equity investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value consideration given, and 
include acquisition charges associated with the investments. These are privately held 
unquoted equity investments.  They are carried at cost based on available information and do 
not necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be realised, since such amounts 
depend on future circumstances.  Because of the inherent uncertainties of valuation, the 
assigned values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used, had 
more current information been available, and the difference could be material.

8

The Innovation Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

3. Cash and cash equivalents

Term deposits with CAPITA Financial Services Inc.

Date of Maturity Interest Rate             2012 2011
             $ $

Term Deposit       January 26, 2012           3.75%                  - 1,009,452
Term Deposit January 28, 2013 3.75%    1,047,949 -

1,047,949 1,009,452
Current account
Cash at bank – RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Ltd.      75,843      134,595

   1,123,792 1,144,047

4. Investments

The Fund has invested in 8% cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares at $1 per 
share in the following companies and these have been fully provided for in the financials:

a) Ajeland Investments Inc. – 250,000 shares
These are participating shares which are redeemable no later than January 31, 2008 at a 
price no lower than $1.47 per share.  Any dividends not paid within 12 calendar months 
of their due date, may be converted into additional Class A shares at the price of $1.00 
per share.

b) Birds Eye Music Inc. – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than October 31, 2009 at a price no lower
than $1.47 per share.

c) Country Style Woodwork Inc. – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than September 28, 2015 at a price no lower 
than $1.60 per share.

d) Gold Coast Records Inc. – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than November 28, 2014 at a price no lower 
than $1.60 per share.

The Fund has committed to invest in 8% cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares at 
$1 per share in the following companies:

a) Advanced Energy Systems Inc. – 205,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than the fifth anniversary of the development 
of a commercially viable device at the higher of a price that provides a 12% internal rate 
of return and a price derived by multiplying the sum of the company’s net income for the 
three most recent years by seven, then dividing that figure by the number of shares 
outstanding.

9
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The Innovation Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
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The Innovation Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

4. Investments …continued

b) Coral Isle Food Products Ltd. – 210,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than July 31, 2014 at a price no lower than 
$1.88 per share.

c) Hit Island Inc.  – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than February 28, 2019 at a price no lower 
than $2.10 per share.

d) Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc. – 180,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than January 28, 2016 at a price no lower 
than $1.55 per share.

e) Country Style Woodwork Inc. – 60,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than July 28, 2017 at a price no lower than 
$1.60 per share.

The Fund has invested in 10% cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares at $2 per 
share in the following company:

a) Hit for Six Inc. – 125,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than December 31, 2011 at a price no lower 
than $3.20 per share.

The Fund has invested in 10% cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares at $1 per 
share in the following companies:

a) Melange Production Inc. – 210,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than December 31, 2013 at a price no lower
than $1.75 per share.

b) Abus Technology Inc. – 200,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than May 31, 2014 at a price no lower than 
$1.75 per share.

The Fund has invested in cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares at $1 per share in 
the following company:

a) Smart Tie Inc. – 31,000 shares 
These shares are to be redeemed no later than April 30, 2008, with a 5% royalty on 
sales revenue once the investment remains with the fund.

10

The Innovation Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

4. Investments … continued 

At year end, the Fund had advanced the following amounts to the companies; however, only 
Country Style Woodwork Inc. has issued 60,000 shares pursuant to its loan agreement dated 
October 1, 2012.

2012 2011
$ $

Abus Technology Inc. 200,000   200,000
Advanced Energy Systems 82,449 82,449
Ajeland Investments Inc. 249,600 249,600
Birds Eye Music Inc. 250,000 250,000
Coral Isle Food Products Ltd.     210,000          182,269
Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc 2,782               2,782
Country Style Woodwork Inc. 250,000        250,000
Country Style Woodwork Inc 3,818 -
Gold Coast Records Inc. 250,000      250,000
Hit For Six Inc. 250,000 250,000
Hit Island Inc. 91,628 91,628
Melange Productions Inc. 210,000 210,000
Smart Tie Inc. 31,000 31,000

2,081,277 2,049,728

Less: provision for impairment of investments:

Abus Technology Inc. (200,000) (200,000)
Advanced Energy Systems (82,449) (82,449)
Ajeland Investments Inc. (249,600) (250,000)
Birds Eye Music Inc. (250,000)   (250,000)
Hit For Six Inc.      (250,000) (250,000)
Melange Productions Inc.      (210,000) (210,000)             
Smart Tie Inc (31,000) (31,000)

(1,273,049) (1,273,449)

808,228    776,279

Based on a review of the investments portfolio, management has made a provision for the 
impairment of investments. A 100% provision has been made for Abus Technology Inc., 
Advance Energy Systems, Ajeland Investments Inc., Birds Eye Music Inc., Hit For Six Inc., 
Melange Productions Inc. and Smart Tie Inc. 

11
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The Innovation Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

4. Investments …continued
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The Innovation Fund                                                          
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

5. Due to related party

At December 31, 2012, there was an amount of $26,578 (2011 – $26,453) due to the 
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited. This balance is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on 
demand.

Related party transactions

The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and 
administrative assistance to, the Fund.  As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the average gross 
assets of the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.75% per 
quarter. 

Charges of $113,710 (2011 - $113,303) were incurred during the year in respect of 
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.  

6. Commitments

At year end, the following commitments in respect of investments were outstanding.

2012 2011
$ $

          Advanced Energy Systems Inc. - 122,551
Coral Isle Food Products Ltd. - 27,731
Country Style Woodwork Inc. 56,182 -
Hit Island Inc.    -           158,372   
Imagination Films - 250,000
Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc (formerly Pato Tropi-Foods)      177,218 177,218

                                                                                                       233,400    735,872

7. Special Grants

• Competition expenses
The Fund administers and finances The National Innovation Competition to develop creative 
thinking to produce viable innovative projects that have the best chance of realizing 
commercial success. From 2008 income year, the Board of Trustees resolved to treat the 
expenses for this competition as grants. Such grants when disbursed are recognised in the 
accounts as a reduction in the equity of the Fund.

2012 2011
$ $

Grants disbursed – competition expenses   144,026 65,000

• Transfer from Export, Promotion and Marketing Fund
On February 28, 2012 a grant of $250,000 was transferred from the Export, Promotion, and 
Marketing Fund to fund the National Innovation Competition 2011-2012. Such grants are 
recognised in the accounts as an injection in the equity of the Fund.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

7.        Special Grants … continued
           

• Technical Assistance Grant
During the year a technical assistance grant of $10,200 was approved and disbursed to 
Country Style Woodwork Inc. Such grants are recognised in the accounts as a reduction in 
the equity of the Fund.

      
8.         Financial risk management

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value amounts represents estimates of the consideration that would be agreed upon 
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best 
evidenced by a quoted market value, if one exists. The methods and assumptions used to 
estimate fair value of each class of financial instruments are as follows:

a) Cash, term deposits, interest receivable, accounts payable and due to related party

Due to the short-term nature of these financial assets and liabilities, their carrying 
values approximate their fair values.

b) Equity Investments

These are carried at cost since their fair values cannot be reasonably determined.

Interest rate risk

The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities, as disclosed in Note 3, and so this risk is 
not considered to be significant.

Credit risk

The amount of the Fund’s exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its 
financial assets.  These include cash, term deposits and interest receivable from these 
deposits, all of which are placed with a reputable bank and financial institution. All of the
deposits were held with one financial institution at December 31, 2012.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its 
financial liabilities.  

The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation.

Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth Fund 
Limited, a related party.
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Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012

“Enhancing the competitiveness 
of small and medium sized 

hotels through improved use of 
renewable energy.”

With the high cost of energy affecting their bottom line 
small hotels are being encouraged to manage and 
reduce their energy consumption through improved 
use of renewable energy.
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Photo: Coconut Court Beach Hotel



Tourism 
Loan Fund

Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012

“Creating opportunities 
for reducing energy 

consumption and enabling 
operations to be more 

competitive”
Some of our clients within the hotel sector 
have accessed funding from the Tourism 
Loan Fund to implement renewable energy 
solutions to achieve greater efficiency, 
reduce their operating cost and increase their 
competitiveness.
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4

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Statement of Changes in General Fund

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

General Accumulated
Fund Earnings Total

Balances at December 31, 2010 $ 30,000,000 3,544,172 33,544,172

Comprehensive income for 2011 - 1,402 1,402

Balances at December 31, 2011 30,000,000 3,545,574 33,545,574

Comprehensive loss for 2012 - (33,166) (33,166)

Balances at December 31, 2012 $ 30,000,000 3,512,408 33,512,408

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

5

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Statement of Comprehensive (Loss)/Income

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

Notes 2012 2011

Income
Interest on short term investments $ 241,186 200,246
Interest on loans 997,695 1,283,963

Total income 1,238,881 1,484,209

Expenses
Management fees 8 845,752 854,504
Professional fees 24,150 25,376
Trustees fees 1,500 2,400
Bank charges 80 150
Provision for loan losses 400,565 600,377

Total expenses 1,272,047 1,482,807

Net (loss)income and comprehensive (loss)income  $ (33,166) 1,402

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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6

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2012
with comparative figures for 2011

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss)/income $ (33,166) 1,402
Adjustments for:
Provision for loan losses 400,565            600,377
Interest income (1,238,881) (1,484,209)
Interest received 1,196,713 1,451,236

Operating profit before working capital changes 325,231 568,806
Increase in accounts payable 36 1,306
(Decrease)/increase in due to related party (6,829) 25,882
Decrease in deferred revenue (273,167) (454,196)

Net cash from operating activities 45,271 141,798

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of short term investments – net (121,661) (1,465,214)
Loans advanced                                                                                                   (3,797,371) -
Loans repaid 1,227,895 2,057,662

Net cash (used by)/from investing activities (2,691,137) 592,448

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year (2,645,866) 734,246
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,633,381 4,899,135

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 2,987,515 5,633,381

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

7

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

1. Background

The Tourism Loan Fund (“the Fund”) was established pursuant to:

(i) a Trust Deed dated January 26, 2001 between the Central Bank of Barbados and the Trustees 
and;

(ii) a Management Agreement dated January 26, 2001 between the Trustees and Enterprise 
Growth Fund Limited (“the Fund Manager” or “EGFL”).

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, the Central Bank of Barbados agreed to transfer $30 million to the 
Trustees for the purpose of establishing the Tourism Loan Fund.  

The principal place of business is Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, Westgate, Barbarees Hill, 
St.Michael. The purpose of the Fund is to increase the level of capital available in the form of loan 
financing to small and medium-sized hotels and attractions operating in the tourism sector. 

These financial statements were approved by the Trustees of the Fund on April 16, 2013.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historic cost basis in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB).  IFRS incorporate all International Accounting Standards (IAS) and interpretations 
issued by its predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee.  

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses 
for the year then ended.  Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

(b) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional 
currency. These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits 
with original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Revenue recognition
Interest revenue is recognised on the accrual basis using the effective interest method. Under 
the terms of the loan agreements, interest earned on a loan during the period of moratorium is 
capitalised to the loan principal.

(e) Short term investments
Short-term investments comprising term deposits are categorised as held to maturity and are 
carried at cost.

(f) Provision for loan losses
Specific provisions are made on individual loans, where management is of the opinion that 
collection is doubtful.  

(g) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the 
recoverable amount is estimated at each statement of financial position date. An impairment 
loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
(loss)/income.

(h) New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not yet 
effective
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective 
for the year ended December 31, 2012, and have not yet been applied in preparing these 
financial statements.   These are as follows: 

• IFRS 12, Disclosure in Interest In other Entities, effective January 1, 2013
• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2011), effective January 1, 2013
• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, effective January 1, 2013
• Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments, effective January 1, 2015

9

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2012 2011

Cash $ 836,096 1,701,561
Short term deposits 2,151,419 3,931,820

$ 2,987,515 5,633,381

The applicable interest rates for the short term fixed deposits range from 3.25% - 4.0% (2011: 2.50% -
3.25%).

4. Short Term Investments

These are held to maturity investments with a maturity period of 6 months.  At the balance sheet date 
the effective interest rate range from was 2.50% – 2.80% per annum (2011: 2.90% per annum). Short 
term investments with original maturity dates of 90 days or less have been classified as cash 
equivalents.

5. Loans Receivable

The Fund’s loans are categorised as originating loans and are carried at amortized cost.  These loans 
are secured by mortgage debentures and personal guarantees, and are repayable between eight to
eleven years. Interest rates were between 6.5% and 10.5% at the end of 2012 (2011: 6.5% and
10.5%).

A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or more or if 
there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
contractual terms of the loan.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying 
amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows, including 
amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate at 
inception of the loan. 
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TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
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TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

5. Loans Receivable, (continued)

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent recoveries 
are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.  The 
Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive payment when the Fund recovers any principal and 
interest in respect of any loan which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been written 
off the books of the Fund.  Such an incentive payment shall be three percent (3%) on the net amounts 
recovered.

At December 31, 2012 the maturity profile of loans is as follows:

Years to maturity
Up to One to Over Total Total

1 yr 5 yrs 5 Yrs 2012 2011

Business Sector $ 3,888,117 - 25,232,901 29,121,018 26,551,542

Less allowance for loan losses (2,675,565) (2,275,000)

$ 26,445,453 24,276,542

As at the reporting date, interest not recognized in respect of delinquent loans amounted to 
$3,872,372 (2011: $2,947,577).

6. Corporation Tax

Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Fund is exempt from 
the payment of corporation tax in accordance with Section 56 of the Central Bank of Barbados Act, 
Cap. 323C.

7. Capital Contribution
2012 2011

Capital contribution $ 30,000,000 30,000,000

The capital contribution represents the original capital of the Fund provided by the Central Bank of 
Barbados.

11

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

8. Due to Related Party

Due to related party consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the financial 
year in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund 
Limited (EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund, using contractual rates.

Amounts included in due to related party represent outstanding management fees due to EGFL at 
year-end of $226,289 (2011: $233,118).  

These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts due to Enterprise Growth Fund 
Limited are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

9. Commitments

Loan commitments in respect of undisbursed loans at December 31, 2012 were $4,325,948 (2011:
$5,020,582).

10. Financial Risk Management

Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

• operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.

Risk Management Framework
The Trustees of the Fund have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s 
risk management framework.  Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the 
risks faced by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the 
adherence to limits.  These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions, products and services offered.
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5. Loans Receivable, (continued)

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent recoveries 
are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.  The 
Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive payment when the Fund recovers any principal and 
interest in respect of any loan which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been written 
off the books of the Fund.  Such an incentive payment shall be three percent (3%) on the net amounts 
recovered.

At December 31, 2012 the maturity profile of loans is as follows:

Years to maturity
Up to One to Over Total Total

1 yr 5 yrs 5 Yrs 2012 2011

Business Sector $ 3,888,117 - 25,232,901 29,121,018 26,551,542

Less allowance for loan losses (2,675,565) (2,275,000)

$ 26,445,453 24,276,542

As at the reporting date, interest not recognized in respect of delinquent loans amounted to 
$3,872,372 (2011: $2,947,577).

6. Corporation Tax

Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Fund is exempt from 
the payment of corporation tax in accordance with Section 56 of the Central Bank of Barbados Act, 
Cap. 323C.

7. Capital Contribution
2012 2011

Capital contribution $ 30,000,000 30,000,000

The capital contribution represents the original capital of the Fund provided by the Central Bank of 
Barbados.
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8. Due to Related Party

Due to related party consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the financial 
year in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund 
Limited (EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund, using contractual rates.

Amounts included in due to related party represent outstanding management fees due to EGFL at 
year-end of $226,289 (2011: $233,118).  

These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts due to Enterprise Growth Fund 
Limited are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

9. Commitments

Loan commitments in respect of undisbursed loans at December 31, 2012 were $4,325,948 (2011:
$5,020,582).

10. Financial Risk Management

Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

• operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.

Risk Management Framework
The Trustees of the Fund have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s 
risk management framework.  Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the 
risks faced by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the 
adherence to limits.  These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions, products and services offered.
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loans and interest receivable and its 
investments.

Loans receivable

The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
borrower.  A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are categorized 
according to their credit risk profile.  These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability 
to service their existing liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to 
determine the extent of credit risk. 

Management of credit risk

The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans 
receivable, by the taking of security whose value approximates to the quantum of funds advanced. The 
principal collateral types for loans are:

• Mortgages over residential/commercial properties
• Charges over business assets/bill of sale
• Personal guarantees
• Hypothecation of deposit balances

.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying Amount

2012 2011

Loans receivable $ 26,445,453 24,276,542
Short term investments 4,181,187 4,059,526

Total $ 30,626,640 28,336,068
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Impaired loans and Securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is 
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms 
of the loans/securities agreement(s).

Past due but not impaired loans
These are loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but 
management believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral 
available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.

Allowances for impairment

Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly 
preparation of a delinquency report.  Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the 
Fund’s Loan Provisioning Policy.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are 
located in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to 
meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions.  Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.   

Write-off Policy
The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it 
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering 
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position 
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not 
be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of sale 
and/or personal or government guarantees.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial 
liabilities.

Management of Liquidity Risk 
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. This has been facilitated by 
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loans and interest receivable and its 
investments.

Loans receivable

The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
borrower.  A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are categorized 
according to their credit risk profile.  These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability 
to service their existing liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to 
determine the extent of credit risk. 

Management of credit risk

The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans 
receivable, by the taking of security whose value approximates to the quantum of funds advanced. The 
principal collateral types for loans are:

• Mortgages over residential/commercial properties
• Charges over business assets/bill of sale
• Personal guarantees
• Hypothecation of deposit balances

.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying Amount

2012 2011

Loans receivable $ 26,445,453 24,276,542
Short term investments 4,181,187 4,059,526

Total $ 30,626,640 28,336,068
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Impaired loans and Securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is 
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms 
of the loans/securities agreement(s).

Past due but not impaired loans
These are loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but 
management believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral 
available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.

Allowances for impairment

Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly 
preparation of a delinquency report.  Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the 
Fund’s Loan Provisioning Policy.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are 
located in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to 
meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions.  Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.   

Write-off Policy
The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it 
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering 
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position 
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not 
be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of sale 
and/or personal or government guarantees.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial 
liabilities.

Management of Liquidity Risk 
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. This has been facilitated by 



174174

14

TOURISM LOAN FUND

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2012

(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Management of Liquidity Risk (cont’d)

using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending 
and other expenditure.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.  The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on the investment.

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of 
business.  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a 
borrower or creditor when due.  Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest 
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.

Management of Market Risks
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to 
minimise instances of market risk in accordance with the Fund’s Short Term Investment Policy. Further 
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of Fund resources in financial 
institutions.

Currency Risk
The Fund had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.

Capital Management Policy
The Fund’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business.  There were no changes in the Fund’s approach to 
capital management during the year.

Exposure to Interest Rate Risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the 
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.

Except as disclosed in Notes 3, 4 and 5, the Fund does not have any exposure to interest rate risk. 
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated 
with the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other 
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.  Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s 
operations and are faced by all business entities.

The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that 
restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational 
risk is delegated to the management of the Fund.

Financial income

2012 2011

Interest income on unimpaired loans $ 997,695 1,283,963
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 241,186 200,246

Financial income $ 1,238,881 1,484,209
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Management of Liquidity Risk (cont’d)

using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending 
and other expenditure.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.  The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on the investment.

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of 
business.  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a 
borrower or creditor when due.  Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest 
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.

Management of Market Risks
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to 
minimise instances of market risk in accordance with the Fund’s Short Term Investment Policy. Further 
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of Fund resources in financial 
institutions.

Currency Risk
The Fund had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.

Capital Management Policy
The Fund’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business.  There were no changes in the Fund’s approach to 
capital management during the year.

Exposure to Interest Rate Risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the 
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.

Except as disclosed in Notes 3, 4 and 5, the Fund does not have any exposure to interest rate risk. 
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10. Financial Risk Management, (continued)

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated 
with the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other 
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.  Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s 
operations and are faced by all business entities.

The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that 
restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational 
risk is delegated to the management of the Fund.

Financial income

2012 2011

Interest income on unimpaired loans $ 997,695 1,283,963
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 241,186 200,246

Financial income $ 1,238,881 1,484,209
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11. Fair value disclosure of financial instruments (cont’d)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial position are as follows:

2012 2012 2011 2011
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,987,515 2,987,515 5,633,381 5,633,381
Short term investments 4,181,187 4,181,187 4,059,526 4,059,526
Loans receivable, net 26,445,453 26,445,453 24,276,542 24,276,542
Interest receivable 141,883 141,883 99,715 99,715
Accounts payable (17,341) (17,341) (17,305) (17,305)
Due to related party (226,289) (226,289) 233,118) (233,118)

The Fund’s activity as a provider of loan financing to small and medium-sized hotels and attractions  
operating in the tourism sector is one which involves transactions, which are speculative in nature.  

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, loans receivable 
(net), interest receivable, due to related party, accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Fair Value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged 
in current transactions between willing parties.  There is no available trading market for these financial 
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values.  The 
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.

SECTION 2

Auditors’ Report to the 

TRUSTEES OF TOURISM LOAN FUND 

December 31, 2012
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11. Fair value disclosure of financial instruments (cont’d)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial position are as follows:

2012 2012 2011 2011
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,987,515 2,987,515 5,633,381 5,633,381
Short term investments 4,181,187 4,181,187 4,059,526 4,059,526
Loans receivable, net 26,445,453 26,445,453 24,276,542 24,276,542
Interest receivable 141,883 141,883 99,715 99,715
Accounts payable (17,341) (17,341) (17,305) (17,305)
Due to related party (226,289) (226,289) 233,118) (233,118)

The Fund’s activity as a provider of loan financing to small and medium-sized hotels and attractions  
operating in the tourism sector is one which involves transactions, which are speculative in nature.  

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, loans receivable 
(net), interest receivable, due to related party, accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Fair Value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged 
in current transactions between willing parties.  There is no available trading market for these financial 
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values.  The 
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.

SECTION 2

Auditors’ Report to the 

TRUSTEES OF TOURISM LOAN FUND 

December 31, 2012
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